
 
 

HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 22 February 2016 6.00 pm Committee Room 2, City Hall 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Councillors Gary Hewson (Chair), Pat Vaughan (Vice-Chair), 
Bob Bushell, Jackie Kirk and Keith Weaver 
 

Lincoln Tenants Panel 
member(s): 
 

Debbie Rousseau, Eric Jenkinson, Sharron Elsom and Brian 
Botham 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Democratic Services, Bob Ledger, Karen Talbot and Chris Morton 
 

A G E N D A 

SECTION A Page(s)  

1.  Confirmation of Minutes -18 January 2016  
 

3 - 4 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, 
when declaring interests members must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI) or personal and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  HRA Business Plan and a Strategy for New Build  
 

5 - 60 

4.  Establishment of a Wholly Owned Housing Company  
 

61 - 82 

5.  LTP Matters  
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally blank.



Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee 18 January 2016 

 
Present: Councillors Councillor Gary Hewson (in the Chair),  

Kathleen Brothwell (substituted for Jackie Kirk), 
Bob Bushell and Pat Vaughan 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor Jackie Kirk, Sharron Elsom and Brian Botham 
 

Also in Attendance: Debbie Rousseau and Eric Jenkinson 
 

 
31.  Confirmation of Minutes - 16 November 2015  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2015 be 
confirmed. 

 
32.  Matters Arising  

 
The committee referred to minute number 25 and updated that members had 
visited St Botolphs Court and commented that the work that had been completed 
was very good and the residents were happy with it. 
 
The Chair raised the issue of space available for mobility scooters. 
 
Bob Ledger, Director of Housing and Community Services responded that the 
space available for mobility scooters was an issue. An external area for charging 
mobility was available at St Botolphs Court and De Wint Avenue. 
 

33.  Declarations of Interest  
 

No declarations of interest were received. 
 

34.  Impact of Rent Reduction upon Performance Targets  
 

Bob Ledger, Director of Housing and Community Services  
 

a. presented a report to outline information in relation to the impact of a 1% 
reduction in rent levels upon the performance of relevant services 
 

b. advised that the Council was currently below the target of 2.75% for 
reducing rent arrears and it was anticipated that the end of year target 
would be achieved 
 

c. referred to paragraph 2.2 of the report and gave an overview of the 1% 
reduction in rent for 2016/17 advised that the outstanding debt would be 
£774,125 
 

d. advised that the difference in outstanding debt was £7,819 therefore the 
reduction will not significantly affect the target setting processes 
 

e. further advised that the officers were aiming to meet the 2.75% target by 
the end of March 2016 and it was anticipated that the Council would be 
aiming for an even lower arrears figure for 2016/17 (anticipated to be 
2.5%) 

 
3

Item No. 1



The Chair asked if the service charge was included within the rent reduction? 
 
Bob Ledger, Director of Housing and Community Services advised that the 
service charge did not have to be reduced and gave an overview of a future 
proposal to disaggregate the service charges. 
 
RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted. 
 

35.  LTP Matters  
 

Eric Jenkinson advised of the following LTP matters: 
 

 There had been one LTP meeting since Christmas  

 LTP were trying to recruit members for the Manse and the City Centre 

 The tenant inspection of void properties were continuing to go well with the 
3 properties that had been inspected reaching the required standard 

 
36.  ASB Policy  

 
This item was withdrawn from the agenda and will be added to the next meeting 
of Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee. 
 

37.  Work Programme 2015/16  
 

Claire Turner, Democratic Service Officer 
 

a. presented the work programme for the Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee 
for 2015/16 as detailed at Appendix A of the report 
 

b. advised that this was an opportunity for the committee to suggest other 
items be included within the work programme  

 
The Chair suggested that the following items be added to the work programme 
for 2016/17: 
 

 Post Implementation Review of Servitor  

 New Build Modernisation Programme  

 Tenancy changes 
 
RESOLVED that the above topics be included on the work programme for 
2016/17. 
 

4



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 22 FEBRUARY 2016 
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

HRA BUSINESS PLAN AND A STRATEGY FOR NEW BUILD  

DIRECTORATE: 
 

HOUSING AND REGENERATION 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

BOB LEDGER, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF HOUSING AND 
REGENERATION 

 
1. Purpose of Report and Executive summary 

 
1.1 To advise members of the outcome of a refresh of the Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA) Business Plan and seek their endorsement to the new plan and the actions 
therein.  
 

1.2  To seek Executive Committee approval to commit additional resources to an 
enhanced new build programme for social rent within the HRA. 
 

1.3 To seek Executive Committee approval for a more proactive approach to be taken 
in the development of affordable homes for rent by Housing Associations in the 
City. 
  

1.4  To seek Executive Committee approval in principle for the development of market 
rent properties in a to be developed wholly owned Council company. 
  

2. Background 
 

2.1 
 

The full Housing Revenue Account was last updated in 2012, on the cusp of the 
introduction of the new ‘self-financing’ regime. Prior to 2012 individual Council 
HRAs in England and Wales were, in effect, subsidiary accounts of a national 
account allowing government to move money between Councils.   
 

2.2 
 

The new finance regime was meant to give autonomy to individual Councils in 
return for a formula payment by most, including Lincoln, to government. This 
Council paid the government £25m.      
 

2.3 
 

In 2012 the first new regime business plan was developed to take account of the 
opportunity to bring the whole of the housing stock up to the national Decent 
Homes Standard and to commit significant resources to additional priorities such 
as environmental improvements. In this way the investment needs of the whole of 
the HRA asset base were taken into account for the first time in many years.  
     

2.4  The Housing Revenue Account in legal terms is a subsidiary account to the 
General Fund with a statutorily applied ring fence which in simple terms means 
that expenditure from the HRA, whether it be on staffing, improvements or repairs 
should be for the benefit of tenants. The overwhelmingly primary income stream 
into the HRA is tenant rent money. There is no direct subsidy into the account from 
government or the Council’s own General Fund. However, government would 
argue that the payment of housing benefit for tenants of the HRA is an indirect 
subsidy.  

5

Item No. 3



    
2.5 In formulating the HRA 2012 Business Plan a full process of consultation was 

entered into with tenants which significantly shaped the investment proposals in 
that first plan. A number of these priority areas have benefitted by significant 
additional investment in the last four years. More still needs to be done to deliver 
on these commitments in full.    
 

2.6 Despite the government stating in 2012 that the finance regime introduced a new 
era of autonomous management they continue to impose national policy on local 
HRAs. These present a risk to the investment proposals in the new plan and 
therefore some overall contingency is retained within the plan. In financial planning 
terms the most significant risk is the proposed forced sale of so called ‘high value 
voids’. Whilst at present this is estimated to have only a marginal effect in Lincoln 
(few, if any, properties hit he threshold amount) it is a concern that government will 
move the threshold down at some point in the future to fund their wider policies. 
Therefore, an additional earmarked reserve has been allowed for in the plan.   
  

2.7 There is a significant shortage of housing of all types and tenure within the City i.e. 
market ownership housing, market rented, sub market rented and low-cost 
ownership. The new emerging local plan clearly identifies this need and failure by 
the market to provide the housing the community needs.  
 

2.8 In July 2015 the Council’s Executive Committee directed that a new HRA Business 
Plan should be prepared and options for new build housing outside the plan 
should be explored in detail.  
 

3. Actions arising out of the refreshed HRA Business Plan 
 

3.1 Appendix F of the attached full plan includes a full list of actions arising therein. 
The most notable are: 

 To continue to drive performance improvement 

 To continue the drive to best value with a review of the Supported Housing 
Service as a priority. 

 To deliver a Lincare Business Plan  

 To deliver in full on the property investment priorities agreed with tenants. 

 To incorporate the requirements of the Lincoln Property Standard into that 
investment profile.   

 To enhance and deliver a full programme of environmental improvements to 
the wider HRA assets 

 To assess each garage site as to its future viability and undertake a pilot 
refurbishment of one site by the summer of next year.    

 To deliver 100 new units of new build property adding to the current 150 
commitment i.e. 250 new homes by 2021. 
 

3.2 The plan commits the Council to delivering in full on the Lincoln Property 
Standard. The additional works involved in the standard relate to the installation of 
overbath showers (or level access in a minority) in all properties, non-slip flooring 
and lever taps in all sheltered property, handrails to each sheltered property main 
access point where there is a 1:20 gradient and an enhanced programme of 
external environmental improvement works.  
    

3.3 The plan includes some 28 separate actions (attached as appendix F in the plan) 

6



relating primarily to the priorities listed at 3.1 and is the blueprint for directing the 
future of the landlord service in the next few years. Although this is a plan 
designed for 30 years, variables and circumstances can change quickly and it is 
expected this plan will be subject to a full rewrite within 5 years, if not sooner.  
 

3.4 The detailed financial projections, summarised at appendices B and C within the 
plan) identify the availability of both capital and revenue resources to support the 
plan.  
    

3.5 The plan commits to a further 100 new build homes bringing the Council’s new 
build delivery to 250 in the first 8 years of self-financing. A commitment made 
entirely from the Council’s (or tenants’) income without any public subsidy. There 
is the capacity for even more but given the changes that national government is 
currently imposing on local HRAs it is recommended that some resources are kept 
in reserve at this point. However as Housing policy settles down in the term of the 
new government the Council may want to revisit this position in the short to 
medium term.   
    

3.6 The plan also includes a £5m land acquisition fund. At this point it is proposed any 
land acquired that is subsequently used for market housing (rent or sale) be 
subsequently re-sold at market value. The plan includes the projection that more 
than £3m of the land fund will be reimbursed in this way through utilisation by 
housing associations and/or a wholly owned Council company.  
    

4.  The provision of more Housing through direct intervention by the City 
Council across the tenures 
 

4.1 Government have announced that after the current Affordable Housing Investment 
Programme (AHP) 2015-2018, there will be no subsidy to Housing bodies for the 
development of affordable housing rent. Government support and financing in 
subsequent programmes will be for shared ownership, starter homes and other 
low cost home ownership initiatives. 
  

4.2 The grant approvals for the 2015-18 AHP programme were announced in 2014 
and those bodies in receipt of grant for rent need to have spent their allocations by 
March 2018. If they don’t, it is possible the government may seek to claw back the 
allocations. If we are to attract Housing Associations to spend more of their grant 
allocations for affordable rent in the City of Lincoln we need to act now on a more 
proactive and supportive approach in order that developments can be completed 
by 2018. This could include ourselves in more readily facilitating, on their behalf, 
sites for development e.g. the proposed land acquisition fund. We may also need 
to consider whether we should offer some discount on land values for sub-market 
rent homes in return for long-term nomination rights. Any such proposals would be 
subject to an individual and separate approval process by the Council’s Executive 
Committee.  
    

4.3 Elsewhere on this agenda is a detailed proposal for the Council to establish a 
wholly owned company with the intention of primarily developing market rented 
housing. Although this would involve the Council taking out considerable 
borrowing in the General Fund it would, through a process of on-lending to the 
company, make a return on the process.  
  

7



4.4 In conjunction with external financial specialised support the Council has done 
some detailed modelling on a wholly owned company. Given the comparatively 
low rents across the market and sub-market housing in the City, compared to the 
capital costs of new build, the company model only works at full market rent levels 
i.e. the financial ‘yields’ are too low at lower rents to make the company model 
work. Therefore there is no, or very limited, opportunity to develop sub market new 
build properties in a company model.   
 

4.5 There is though a gap in the housing market for a quality market rented product. It 
is estimated that 43% of properties in the private rented sector (over 10,000 
homes in the sector) are non-decent (lack one or more modern amenities) and 
21% have category 1 hazards (are unsafe or injurious to health). 
  

4.6 There are wider strategic reasons why the development of a company may be an 
option the Council wishes to consider: 

 Intervenes in the market where it hasn’t provided adequately for the 
community i.e. leadership role  

 The resultant properties would not otherwise be built therefore generating 
additional Council tax and new homes bonus income.  

 There is the potential for the Company to become involved in facilitating 
other housing projects of which there are several that are currently stalled 

 The company widens the scope of Council business and will establish new 
ways of working that could potentially be transposed to other work areas. 
  

5. Strategic Priorities  
 

5.1 Growing the local economy  
The three initiatives of increased HRA spend, greater housing association and 
wholly owned company activity would seek to deliver around 500 additional homes 
for various tenures over the next five years. This will cost over £50m to deliver. In 
this way the Council would be taking both a strategic and practical lead to help fill 
the housing gap between supply and demand.   
 

5.2 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln 
HRA spend seeks to serve and protect some of the poorest people in our 
community.   
 

5.3 Increasing the supply of affordable housing 
The plan commits the Council to the new build of 100 further properties for social 
rent and thereby delivering 250 units in the period 2012-2021. There are currently 
2,800 applicants on the Council’s housing waiting list.  
 

6. Organisational Impacts  
 

6.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
The summary financial projections supporting the plan are included at appendices 
B and C within the plan. There are more detailed comprehensive spreadsheets 
behind the appendices which have been verified by the Council’s financial team.    
  

6.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules  
There is a legal requirement to prepare a Housing Revenue Account Business 
Plan at appropriate intervals. 

8



  
6.3 Land, property and accommodation 

The Plan incudes for the acquisition of land and the building of property. 
  

6.4 Human Resources 
None at this time.  
 

6.5 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights (including the outcome of the EA attached, if 
required).  
Not applicable. 
 

6.6 Significant Community Impact 
The plan seeks to deliver better services to tenants and greater investment in 
Housing. 
 

6.7 Corporate Health and Safety implications  
Not applicable. 
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 (i)        Options Explored  
In writing the plan a number of options were explored in terms of investment, 
service levels and staffing.  
 

7.2 (ii)        Key risks associated with the preferred approach 
The plan as presented meets Corporate objectives relating to improving services 
and increasing affordable housing. A contingency amount is retained in the capital 
account.  
 

8. Recommendation  
 

8.1 
 

To consider the proposed adoption by the Council of the attached new Housing 
Revenue Account Business Plan appended to this report, inclusive of the financial 
profiling and action plan at appendices B, C and F. 

 
Key Decision 
 

Yes 
 

Do the Exempt Information 
Categories Apply? 
 

No 
 

Call in and Urgency: Is the decision 
one to which Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

No 

How many appendices does the 
report contain? 
 

1 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 

Lead Officer: Bob Ledger, Strategic Director of Housing and 
Regeneration 

 

9



This page is intentionally blank.



 
 

1 
 

City of Lincoln Council 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 

 

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 

February 2016 

 

 

 

11



 
 

2 
 

 

Contents 

 

 

Section   Page 

Number 

   

 Executive summary 5 

1. Strategic context 7 

2. Effective consultation  15 

3. Stock condition 19 

4. Performance 23 

5. Resources 25 

6. Priorities 32 

7. Other options and considerations 33 

Appendix A Performance data 36 

Appendix B Revenue projection 37 

Appendix C Capital projection 39 

Appendix D Assumptions for the Business Plan model 41 

Appendix E Risk register 42 

Appendix F Summary of action points 49 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



 
 

3 
 

 

 

 

Equal opportunities 

 

City of Lincoln Council has a policy of equal opportunities.  We want to make sure 

that we treat everyone fairly according to his or her needs. 

 

Upon request, this document is available in: 

 

 CD 

 Large print 

 Braille 

 If you have hearing impediment, arrangements can be made to help you. 

 If English is not your first language, an interpreter can be arranged to help 
you. 

 

13



 
 

4 
 

Introduction 

By the Housing Portfolio holder  

It is my pleasure to introduce this ambitious but entirely affordable and pragmatic plan. It 
is only 2 years since we last updated the plan and 3 years since the last full rewrite. 
However, following the introduction of the new self-financing regime in 2012 we are now 
much more in control of our own financial destiny and there is a need to keep the plan 
fresh and up to date.     
 
As well as being optimistic about the self-financing regime I must also strike a note of 
caution. The national government imposed changes in relation to rent policy and their 
proposals for a levy on HRAs based on the sale of high value voids restrict our ability to 
maximise our capacity to build much needed additional housing. This plan though strikes 
a balance of prudency whilst still delivering on additional homes. The frustration is that 
we could have committed to more.  
 
We have utilised the information from previous wider tenant consultation events to 
discuss our services and future priorities. Although we’ve made a start on a number of 
initiatives deriving from the previous plan several need to be more embedded before we 
more widely seek tenant views on their success. However in the autumn of 2015 we did 
consult with tenants, utilising our quarterly Home! Magazine, on a new Lincoln property 
standard which was overwhelmingly supported and therefore is costed in this document 
as part of our investment plans.  The plan also take into account the views of our 
representative tenant body, the Lincoln Tenants’ Panel (LTP)  
 
A key aspiration of both the Council and its tenants is that we do all we can to help 
alleviate the excess demand for affordable housing. Our waiting list, which in reviewed 
on an on-going basis to only include those in current need of alternative housing, stands 
at nearly 3,000 families.  Subject to my earlier comment about national policy our 
aspiration is to utilise whatever resources we can to build, or facilitate others to build, to 
meet that demand and alleviate the unsatisfactory living conditions of those on the 
waiting list. To that end we are also liaising closely with Housing Association colleagues 
encouraging them to develop more in Lincoln.   
 
We are approaching the last year of our previously agreed £52m initial five year 
investment into the current housing stock. This work is progressing well and is well 
received by tenants. We are proud of the quality of the housing we are now providing.   
 
We continue to be well placed in housing management terms in that our services are 
well regarded by tenants i.e. we’re not having to promise big improvements before we 
can start concentrating on new build. Performance improvement outputs from the 
service are now, in benchmarking terms, generally in median quartiles. The challenge 
we have set ourselves in this plan is to move more of them into upper quartile status in 
the next two years.          
 
This plan was drafted in late December 2015 and it was approved by the Executive 
Committee in February 2016. The final approved document is the one you see here.  

 

Councillor Peter West  

February 2016

14



 
 

5 
 

The overall aim of the business plan is to: 

 

 Set out a long term plan for the council’s housing stock 

 Ensure adequate financial planning is in place 

 Evidence how we will manage our housing stock revenue, demand and stock 
condition 

 After the above priorities have been achieved, identify all possible resources 
for new build activity 

 
This plan is at the centre of the management and delivery of the Council’s landlord 
role. Responsibility for production and development of the plan rests with the 
Housing Portfolio holder and senior management officers although appropriate 
support has been sought from other services within the Council. Most importantly, 
the plan is consistent with our 2014 housing strategy statement.  
 
If you have comments to make about the plan these should be sent to:  
 

Director of Housing and Regeneration  
City Hall, Beaumont Fee, Lincoln, LN1 1DE 
 
Executive summary  
 
This business plan is focussed on the management of the authority’s housing assets 
and financing the necessary investments including new build activity. It is the key 
element in ensuring the effective short and long-term management and maintenance 
of the council housing stock.  
 
The key issues identified in the plan are:  
 
The stock investment programme agreed in 2012 is progressing well and should 
complete on schedule in 2017. Those elemental investments (new kitchens, heating 
systems, etc.) have been embedded into our stock information/condition system. We 
need to ensure that the focus on price and quality is maintained in the remainder of 
the programme.   
 
There is a need for a wholesale review of our Supported Housing Service. It 
currently operates at a ‘subsidy’ from the wider Housing Revenue Account of £535k 
per year. It does not provide care. It is a service based on befriending and support 
and we need to consider whether the current expenditure is good value when set 
against other priorities. With the removal of external grant funding a number of social 
landlords have reconfigured their Supported Housing Services. We should learn from 
their experiences to develop service options for members and customers to consider 
and decide upon the service levels provided in future. However for the purposes of 
financial planning and in advance of any decisions on the future, the full costs of the 
current service levels are included in this plan.    
 
We will utilise all Right to Buy (RTB) receipts for the purpose of adding to the supply 
of affordable housing.   

15



 
 

6 
 

 
We will commit resources to the development of a further 100 new build homes in 
the HRA for social rent – thereby delivering 250 in total since the introduction in 2012 
of the new self-financing regime. 
  
We will explore in greater detail the options for additional new build Housing within 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and outside of the HRA to be delivered by 
ourselves and Housing Association partners.  
 
We will continue to support our tenants in meeting the challenges of the Welfare 
reform agenda through focussing the Tenancy Services team on early intervention 
and assistance. 
 
Perhaps inevitably, through the concentration of resources under the previous 
Decent Homes policy into the properties themselves, other assets such as the 
environmental and garage areas have not received the attention needed. In terms of 
garages we have some 1,348 garages spread across some 134 sites. However 
many are in poor condition and around a quarter are empty and thereby generate no 
income. In the first 18 months of this plan we will undertake a pilot scheme of 
refurbishment at one garage site to deliver more modern facilities as well as 
indicating which sites have the potential to be upgraded and retained and which sites 
should be utilised for alternative uses.      
 
We will expand and complete delivery of our previous commitments to implement 
environmental improvements. 
 

The income and expenditure profiles used within the plan are based upon general 

purpose stock (GP) rents reducing in each of the next four years by 1% in line with 

government stipulation. After that, also in line with government proposals, GP rents 

are projected to rise by the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) rate plus 1%. Under the 

previous national rent policy (2014) we still have 945 properties that hadn’t reached 

what was known as “formula” or “target” rent and we will continue with the policy to 

move these rents to the formula amount when the individual properties become 

available for reletting. At the time of writing Supported Housing rents are projected to 

still increase by the annual formula amount.      

 
Further work is also recommended on the disaggregation of service charges and the 
use of HRA facilities by the wider community i.e. generating more income by 
charging for those who receive more services or by charging in line with costs.    
 

 

 

 

 

 

16



 
 

7 
 

Local strategic context 

 

“How well does the plan explain the role of the authority’s own stock needs to play to 

support the overall housing strategy?” 

 

1.1 This plan is written in line with the overall housing strategy (2010-15) and 
the emerging 2016-2021 strategy. The aim of this business plan is to 
clearly show how housing and wider community objectives will be 
supported through action on council housing.   
 

1.2 The key elements of this plan are demonstrating how the council will 
continue to provide a high quality service, maintain and develop its major 
repair and improvement programme and how it will respond to the 
challenge of increasing demand for accommodation through new 
additional new build.  
 

1.3 Indeed, one of the Council’s four corporate aims is to increase the supply 
of affordable housing.  
 

1.4 The council’s objective remains one of having the best housing service 
possible with the resources available. In the last year performance has 
improved across all the main indicators and though more needs to be 
done we are well on the way to becoming a top performing service.   
 

1.5 Despite recent government pronouncements the introduction of the self-

financing regime in April 2012 put the HRA on a sounder financial footing 

than the previous national subsidy arrangement. We have used and 

continue to use the opportunity to improve the condition of the existing 

stock and add to it to meet the excess demand over supply i.e. build 

additional homes to improve the housing conditions of local people.   

 

1.6 There is concern though that despite the Government giving a 

commitment to an autonomous future for each HRA it has started to 

intervene with its national rent reductions, it’s high value void levy and its’s 

pay to stay policy. There is a risk that such interventions will grow in 

number and effect.   

 
1.7 A wide range of surveys have been undertaken since the last business 

plan was developed which have helped to inform both the service and 
future plans.  
 

17



 
 

8 
 

1.8 The HRA business plan, therefore, is the key plan for managing the 

authority's housing assets and financing the necessary investments.   

 

1.9 Local demand and management    
 

1.9.1 The City of Lincoln Council has 7,841 homes (April 2015), 422 (5.4%) of 
which are designated as supported accommodation. Included in the stock 
are 313 homes of non-traditional construction i.e. potentially higher cost 
burdens. 
 

1.9.2 There is high demand for rented housing in all areas with no low demand 
properties. Some supported housing has in the past been more difficult 
than the average to let but this is only in comparison to demand locally 
and has not been a major issue for the council (although proactive 
management has helped ensure this to be the case). 
 

1.9.3 There are though 125 bedsits remaining in the City’s ownership and there 
is a desire to reduce these numbers reflecting the fact that most tenants 
aspire to a more modern standard particularly to include integral private 
bathing /showering facilities. Appraisals of the continued future use of 
bedsit accommodation will be undertaken in the life of this plan. 
      

1.9.4 Overall there is high demand for accommodation with nearly 3,000 
applicants on the council’s waiting list – this is real demand given that the 
list is ‘refreshed’ on an ongoing basis. However, to meet these demands 
there are only around 600 properties relet a year, of which 40% are 
transfers (current tenant moving to a different property). In addition there 
are only around 65 housing association lets a year against a local Housing 
Association stock of 1862.  
 

1.9.5 Where our own properties do become available they are not always of the 
type that is needed to meet the highest demand. The least demand is for 
upper floor flats and one bed accommodation for the elderly, although 
these are not difficult to let in accepted national terms. The introduction of 
the ‘bedroom tax’ in April 2013 has seen some reduction in demand for 2 
bedroom flats in the general needs stock.    
 

1.9.6 

 

Against this, there is very high demand for two, three and four bed houses 
when these become vacant.  
 

1.9.7 Rent levels are low compared to other social housing providers in the 
district. The previous national formula and convergence rent policy 
(2014/15 was the last year of operation) indicated that we should be 
generating significantly more income from rents.   
 

 Organisation  2015/16 – Average Rent £ 

 City of Lincoln 70.62 

18



 
 

9 
 

 Longhurst  84.36 

 Waterloo 98.16 

1.9.8 In developing any business plan equal regard needs to be made to income 
as well as to expenditure.   
 

1.9.9 To date, income into the HRA has largely been driven by national rent 
policy and the Council in all of the last twelve years, except one, has 
followed the government proposed rent increase. The reason for this was 
that the nature of the previous national housing finance system was that it 
could financially penalise an authority which didn’t comply with that 
national guidance.   
 

1.9.10 Until the current year and in the preceding 12 years national rent policy 
under both previous and the current government has been determined by 
trying to move social housing rents so at least they reflect the local 
housing market. There was never a suggestion that social rents should be 
the same as market rents. The other main principle of the national policy 
was that a Housing Association home and a Council home of similar age 
and similar facilities in the same area should have broadly the same rent.    
 

1.9.11 As can be seen from the table at 1.9.7 our rents are significantly lower 
than those of Housing Associations (also known as Registered Providers – 
RPs) operating in the City and this is why, under national policy, we have 
seen real terms above inflation increases in rents in an effort to get to the 
position where rents do broadly match – the process known as rent 
convergence. 
 

1.9.12 However the process of convergence under national policy was 
abandoned from 2015/16.    
 

1.9.13 65% of all tenants are in receipt of housing benefit and 38% of all tenants 
are on full housing benefit. Housing benefit is reimbursed to the Council in 
full by national government as long as the social rents it charges are within 
the ‘limit rent’ calculation utilised in the reimbursement of housing benefit. 
In 2014/15 the Council’s average rent was £68.73 and the Council’s limit 
rent assessment was £69.30.  
 

1.9.14 In addition there is something of a contradiction in the national rent 
guidance and policy. As a way of increasing revenue resources available 
to help finance new build, the coalition government policy of 2010-15 was  
to encourage social housing providers to convert their existing social rents 
to a higher rent level at up to 80% of market rent – known as ‘affordable 
rents’. Such rents are not subject to the limit rent calculation. Many social 
housing providers and particularly RPs therefore have designated all new 
build properties as affordable rent properties and when existing social rent 
properties become available for releting they have done so at affordable 
rent levels. In essence therefore the contradiction is that to increase rents 
marginally above social  rent levels will mean the Council could fall foul of 
the limit rent process but being bolder and converting some properties to 

19



 
 

10 
 

affordable rent levels means it wouldn’t. However for the next four years 
this argument becomes ‘academic’ for the existing stock in that the four 
year 1% rent reduction doesn’t allow for movement between the different 
rent models.   
 

1.9.15 A key issue in terms of projecting the business forward is that investment 
in the stock, its environment, new services or new build will be determined 
by how much income we receive. However, nationally imposed 1% year 
on year rent reductions for the next four years clearly undermine our 
capacity in this regard.    
 

1.9.16 A snapshot of the condition of the housing stock as at autumn 2015 
reported it to be generally good. There have been programmes of fixture 
renewals and planned maintenance for over 20 years and these have 
clearly had positive effects. However very little has been invested in the 
wider environmental issues over recent years which has led to the current 
poor state of repair of these elements. This can be most readily evidenced 
by considering the scale of disrepair in garages where the overwhelming 
garage type is concrete panel with an asbestos corrugated roof. Around a 
quarter of all garages are now void and a key priority in this plan is to 
undertake a site by site feasibility analysis of each site which will 
determine whether the site is worth investing in for its current use or an 
alternative use should be found. Examples elsewhere indicate that there is 
still a place for self-funding garage sites on some estates i.e. a higher rent 
is charged for a higher quality product.      
 

1.10 Wider Strategic context 
 

1.10.1 In the Council’s housing strategy statement 2014 as it relates to the public 
sector stock the key objectives are set out as: 
 

 Improve the Council’s landlord function 

 Improve tenant involvement and empowerment and provide tenants 
with a range of opportunities to influence how we meet national 
standards 

 Deliver the Decent Home Programme and improve the quality of all 
Council properties  

 Provide an effective responsive repairs service.  

 Deliver services fairly and recognise equality of opportunity and 
choice.  

 Deliver new Council homes which meet the Code for Sustainable 
Homes level 4 and a minimum EPC A rating 

 Meet the affordable housing need identified in the Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment 
 

1.10.2 The experience of being a building developer in the last two years means 
that we now take a more pragmatic view on some of the above. For 
instance, given the scale of the demand for affordable housing it will be 
impossible to fulfil it. In addition, building to an EPC A rating and a now 
abandoned sustainable code will limit our ability to deliver at scale, given 

20



 
 

11 
 

the significantly higher per unit costs. The Decent Homes Standard is now 
superseded by the higher Lincoln Property Standard.  
    

1.10.3 Our proposal is now to build to EPC B rating. The other Housing Strategy 
objectives not mentioned at 1.9.2 remain valid. All will be revisited though 
in the new Housing Strategy currently being developed.  
 

1.10.4 The Housing Strategy 2016-2021 at the time of writing is currently being 
drafted. The associated primary and secondary research undertaken in 
the 2012-2013 period indicates significant under provision of affordable 
housing in the City. For example some 1,800 affordable homes are 
assessed as being needed for the period 2016 to 2021 (includes 
undersupply since the research reported). Within this there is also an 
increasing need for more specialised supported housing.    
 

1.10.5 With the downturn in the economy and constraints on public funding only 
68 new affordable homes were actually completed during the 3-year 
period to April 2015 leaving a shortfall of 320 affordable homes in that 
period.  All current properties are therefore in demand and all 
social/affordable housing providers need to work together to maximise the 
number of additional properties coming forward.    
 

1.10.6 Until 2012 the role of the Council in new build had been solely in 
facilitating others to develop and this function must continue given the 
excess of demand over supply. However the advent of self-funding has 
enabled the Council to make a start on a new build and acquisition 
programme of its own for the first time in a generation. 30 homes will have 
been completed by March 2016 in a programme of delivering 150 new 
build homes by 2020. A further 100 new and acquisition homes are now 
proposed in this plan to be built on a mix of existing HRA land and land 
identified in other, now redundant, public sector use but not yet purchased. 
The cost of the 100 HRA homes is now estimated at an average of £126k 
average per unit (including land) which reflects that some sites are small 
and difficult to access and around half the land required will need to be 
purchased. The additional £12.6m is now included in this plan and is 
financed by a combination of HRA reserves and Right to Buy (RTB) 
receipts. 
 

1.10.7 The economic recession of 2008-2013 led to a 63% cut in new build social 
housing grant available from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 
i.e. providers are expected to deliver new build with more of their own 
money. As a consequence and as a result of continuing government policy 
there is very little ‘traditional’ affordable housing grant (AHP) left in the 
HCA/Housing Association process. However part of our wider strategy will 
be to encourage Housing Associations to spend a greater share of what 
remains of their AHP grant here in Lincoln. Once the current allocations for 
the period 2015-18 have been utilised Government policy and focus will be 
entirely on low cost home ownership models.     
 

21



 
 

12 
 

1.10.8 Increasing the supply of affordable homes in the City also links to under 
and over occupation. 
   

1.10.9 There is currently no proactive management of under or over occupation 
in our own stock as the data cannot be identified at the present time but 
this is a strategy area that officers are keen to focus on for the future. This 
is particularly important in the light of the bedroom tax and the additional 
welfare reforms being proposed by the current government.  
 

1.10.10 Making sure properties are suitable for lifetime living is a key part of the 
strategy although some properties are not adaptable due to stepped 
access, narrow return staircases, etc. Significant funding for adaptations 
based on disability is assumed to continue under this plan and there is 
currently no waiting list for works required.  
 

1.10.11 Despite continued government intervention in national rent strategy there 
is still (from April 2012) a Government requirement for each local authority 
to establish a rent strategy for its own area which is meant to guide all 
housing providers. The operation of local rent strategies in practice over 
the last four years appears to have little or no actual impact and RPs 
continued to set their rent levels in accordance with their own criteria and 
more latterly they are also caught by national government imposed rent 
reductions. Within the City most RPs have retained their rent levels 
generally at social rather than increasing them, as has happened in many 
areas, to the higher ‘affordable’ rent level.     
 

1.11 Supported Housing Services and County Council support funding 
 

1.11.1 From April 2014 the £307k per annum support received from the County 
Council for services provided by the City Council for its own vulnerable 
and elderly tenants was withdrawn. Although the Council responded by 
increasing the rent for the in-house affected accommodation by 10% in 
2014, the estimated funding gap in relation to services provided and 
funding received (exclusive of Lincare) is £535k per annum. Therefore this 
is the effective level of subsidy provided by the other tenants into 
Supported Housing Services.  
 

1.11.2  Many Councils and Housing Associations have withdrawn entirely from 
providing such support services as a result of the withdrawal of Supporting 
People (County Council funding). This is not proposed here in Lincoln at 
this time. However during 2016/17 the Housing Service needs to 
undertake a wholesale review of its Supported Housing Services. It is 
proposed that we need rationalised service levels that target support at 
those who need it most through a flexible delivery and pricing model. 
Sounds grand but in essence means you get the service you need at a 
commensurate price rather than the current one size and price fits all.  
 

1.11.3 It is almost inevitable that there will still be the need for some cross 
subsidy into the Supported Housing Services in a rationalised service but 
members and self-funding tenants need to make decisions around the 

22



 
 

13 
 

options for support levels and costs they are prepared to fund.   
 

1.11.4 In 2014 the County Council also removed all funding to our Community 
alarm monitoring service (Lincare), as well as that to most other providers 
throughout the County. A number of services closed as a consequence. 
However as a result Lincare has taken on the monitoring of several 
thousand individual connections across the wider region and in the 
2015/16 year the Lincare service will broadly break even in financial terms. 
However this arrangement and any potential growth in Lincare business 
does need to be properly embedded and as a consequence a Lincare 
Business Plan will be brought before members within the next 6 months 
 

1.11.5 In a strict business sense if services are not breaking even then should we 
be providing them? However these are highly valued services by our 
customers and the current strategy of the Council is to close the finance 
gap as much as possible and continue to deliver subject to a more 
rigorous financial assessment.       
 

1.11.6 As part of the new Lincoln Property Standard works that are designed to 
reduce falls within and make it easier to use Supported Housing are now 
intrinsic to this plan. By April 2018 all Supported Housing homes will have 
non slip flooring in both bathroom and kitchen, lever taps in both rooms (to 
aid arthritis sufferers) and will have a handrail adjacent to any non-level 
access point.  
 

1.12 Objectives 
 

1.12.1 The overall objective for the council, and in this context the housing 
service, is to improve service delivery. The transformation of the service in 
benchmarked terms from poor to average over the last year gives a sense 
of real pride to staff.   
 

1.12.2 Our performance across all the main Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
now sits in the middle quartiles as benchmarked against similar social 
housing providers in the retained local authority sector. It is important that 
this momentum of improvement is maintained to move the service to good 
standards across the board.    
 

1.12.3 Most focus over the past few years in terms of expenditure has been the 
condition of the properties themselves with the objective of maintaining 
and improving upon the government’s Decent Homes standard. We have 
also delivered significant improvements to the energy efficiency of our 
homes with the intention of reducing fuel poverty wherever possible. In this 
way all but a handful of properties are insulated to the latest standards and 
in 2015 £500,000 of grant funding was secured towards the major £3.2m 
Shuttleworth House insulation and heating upgrade project. 
     

1.12.4 We have now also started work on environmental improvements which will 
be extended significantly in the next 5 years. In addition a pilot garage site 
refurbishment project will be undertaken in the next 18 months.  

23



 
 

14 
 

 
1.12.5 In addition tenant aspirations continue to increase and change over time. 

There is therefore a continual need to refer back to tenants on plans for 
services and developments for the future to check out whether the 
strategy embarked upon is still the correct way forward. 
 

Action points 
 
1.1 Continue to develop effective partnerships with Housing 

Associations to encourage them to deliver more sub-market rented 
and ownership housing in the City.  
 

1.2 Let all social rent properties at their ‘formula rent’ as and when they 
each become available for reletting.  
 

1.3 Overall, decrease rents in general purpose housing stock by 1% in 
each of the next four years and in year 5 and beyond increase the 
rent annually at CPI + 1%. Both elements of this policy to be in 
adherence to current national policy.   
 

1.4 Deliver a Lincare Business Plan for Council approval by 1st July 
2016.  
  

1.6 Complete and implement a full review of the Supported Housing 
Service by 1st April 2017.  
 

1.7 Undertake and deliver a pilot garage refurbishment project by 
September 2017.  
 

1.8 Assess the liability and opportunity for each garage site location in 
terms of investment or alternative use by September 2017.  
  

1.9 Undertake a disaggregation project relating to service charges for 
communal facilities by 1st April 2018.   
 

24



 
 

15 
 

 

2. Effective consultation 
 

 “What evidence is there of effective consultation with tenants and 
leaseholders, including satisfaction surveys, in the development of the Plan 
and that due weight has been given to their views?” 
 

2.1 The 2012 business plan had been the subject of wide consultation with 
tenants and other stakeholders as well as a properly ‘joined-up’ decision 
making process within the council. This has ensured that informed decisions 
have been taken on relative priorities and due account has been taken of the 
links and synergies between different service areas.  

 
2.2 The Lincoln Tenants’ Panel (LTP) was formed in 2010/11 and replaced 

previous tenant representative body consultation processes. The panel is 
embedded in the Council’s decision making structure. It’s more formal 
meetings are serviced by Council officers, and members of the panel sit on a 
sub-committee of the Council with voting rights.  All of this is supported by 
both the tenant involvement strategy and the LTP constitution. The process 
and mechanism for involving tenants in decision-making is strong.  
      

2.3 A number of the priorities identified in the 2012 HRA Business Plan have 
been implemented, others are progressing and others remain to be 
implemented. Given this latter position the Housing Portfolio holder, Director 
of Service and LTP took the view that there was no additional need for further 
wider consultation at this point on this revised plan. The main focus of the 
new plan is to deliver the previously identified priorities in full and to identify 
the resources available for an extended New Build and Acquisition 
programme (also identified as the main tenant priority).   

 
2.4 The tenant input into this 2016 plan therefore has taken place in the form of:  

 Utilising the full consultation process, and feedback received, in 2012  

 Details of a proposed Lincoln Property Standard were included in 
the autumn 2015 edition of Home, our quarterly tenant magazine, 
sent to all tenants. A freepost reply process indicated significant 
support for the new standard  

 A consultation event on the contents of the plan was undertaken 
with the full Tenants’ Panel In January 2016. 

 
2.5 The aim of the previous wider consultation events was to seek tenant views 

on the services delivered and what they think the priorities should be in the 
future. A good response of 1,062 separate inputs were received and when 
asked how they would spend each extra pound available the cumulative 
perspective was: 

 Amount 

Building new Council homes 34p 

Investing in more home and estate 
improvements  

29p 

Improving services 21p 

Improving the estate environment 16p 

 £1.00 
 

25



 
 

16 
 

2.6 In the intervening period since 2012 the Council has made a start on all of 
these areas. In brief we have: 

 the first new build programme in a generation initially delivering 150 
new homes in the HRA and the expansion of that existing commitment 
in this plan to 250 homes 

 more money being invested in existing properties than ever before.  

 Over £3.25m to be spent on environmental works in the next 5 years 
alone 

 Service outputs improving across the board and a commitment to 
continue this momentum   

 
2.7 As stated above, more needs to be done to progress these issues particularly 

the environmental works and to embed service improvement over a longer 
timeframe.  
 

2.8 In 2012 tenants were also asked to prioritise stock investment options. In 
ranking order these were as in the table blow. The second column details our 
progress in terms of implementation: 
 

 

2012 identified tenant priority 2016 position.  

Mains wired smoke alarms and 
carbon monoxide detectors 

A full programme of smoke detector renewal and 
CO detector installation is progressing and will 
complete in 2018.  

Double glazing Nearly all Council homes now have double 
glazing. The only exceptions being where 
planning restrictions apply.  

Modern kitchens and bathrooms Kitchen programme now includes for renewal 
every 20 years and bathrooms every 30 years 
and now  includes overbath showers  

Energy efficient heating system Programme now includes for central heating in all 
homes with boiler renewals programmed every 
15 years.  

Internal plaster in a reasonable 
condition 

Plasterers now employed as separate tradesmen 
in the repairs team and much more plastering 
work being undertaken. Dedicated plastering 
budget created.  

Modern boundaries, fences, 
walls and hedges 

Environmental and external works generally to 
have significant investment boost with over £10m 
to be invested in the life of this plan  Robust boundary fencing to 

vulnerable areas 

Cladding and insulation of non-
traditional homes 

Option appraisal on all non-traditional stock to be 
undertaken by April 2018 

Open spaces to be maintained 
to a high standard 

See comment under “Modern boundaries….” 
above. 

Door entry systems to 
communal flat doors  

Dedicated programme of door entry upgrades 
and renewals in place and being progressed.  

Communal areas to flats to be 
well decorated 

Decoration of flat block communal areas now on 
a fixed seven year programme  

 
 

26



 
 

17 
 

2.9 The above table evidences that the Council did respond to the extensive 
consultation process that took place in 2012 and is well progressed on a 
number of the priorities identified. As already stated more does need to be 
done in some areas particularly relating to the external environment whether 
that be refurbishing communal spaces or renewal of fencing. These will now 
be reprioritised in the short and medium term.  

 
2.10 In the full tenant consultation of 2012 tenants living in blocks of flats with 

communal entrances were asked about security measures and they 
responded by prioritising more robust communal door and entry systems. 
Such upgrade works are now a designated separate part of the investment 
programme. Lower numbers of people prioritised spy holes, and security 
chains on their own flat doors. Although our standard replacement door now 
comes with a pre fitted spy hole and a five lever locking mechanism, this latter 
suggestion has not been prioritised for flats in the investment programme. It 
was proposed by fewer people and is not assessed as effective use of 
resources if we continue to invest in getting the communal door and entry 
systems improved.   

 
2.11 In terms of service improvement more detail is given section 4 of this plan 

relating to how well the service is performing.  
 

2.12 However, in the 2012 survey one in five respondents stated that we needed 
to improve services. The two areas of service that relate most directly to ‘the 
tenant experience’ is how responsive and efficient the Council is in 
responding to responsive repair requests and how effective we are in helping 
to resolve neighbour and estate issues. 

 
2.13 At the time of writing this report (January 2016) all key repair performance 

indicators relating to how quickly we undertake responsive repairs, keep 
appointments and get the repair ‘right first time’ were all significantly 
improved. More needs to be done to embed these and further improve on the 
indicators in 2016 and the life of this plan.   

 
2.14 Equally at the time of writing, a full review of our anti-social behaviour (asb) 

procedures is currently underway and a commitment has been made to seek 
accreditation to the national Housemark anti-social good practice standard in 
the autumn of 2016. Three members of the Lincoln Tenants’ Panel sit 
alongside officers on the development group for the asb procedures. 

 
Action points 
 
2.1 Complete the initial five year stock investment programme by April 

2017.   
 

2.2 Extend the new build HRA investment programme to 250 new homes by 
2021 superseding the previous 2014 commitment to 150 new HRA 
homes by 2019.   

 
2.3 Undertake a more substantive programme of communal area and estate 

refurbishments works commencing in 2016 and 2017.     

 

27



 
 

18 
 

2.4 Embed recent performance outputs from the service to be recognised 
locally and regionally as a good landlord.  
 

2.5 Achieve the national Anti- Social behaviour accreditation standard in 
the autumn of 2016.  

 

28



 
 

19 
 

 
3 Stock condition 

 
“Does the authority have a clear understanding of the condition of its stock 
including the work required to make it decent, and appropriate 
arrangements to keep this up to date?” 
 

3.1 The latest stock condition survey was carried out in October/November 
2015. It was based on a 20% sample of internal and external inspections. 
Our overall baseline stock condition is good as improvement works carried 
out over many years have been entered into the stock condition database. 
In addition until 2007/8 the stock condition information was updated 
through regular in-house inspections and surveys. The weakness in our 
2012 HRA Business plan was that stock survey inspection information at 
that time was already 4/5 years out of date. Understandable caution was 
therefore used in baseline and extrapolated estimates for the stock 
investment requirements in 2012 hence the need to update that 
information in 2015.        
 

3.2 The revised stock investment programme for the initial 5 year 2012-17 
period was £52m and work has progressed well and is on target to 
complete in full by April 2017. As before, all property improvements carried 
out as part of the initial five year plan have been entered into the database 
to keep the property information up to date.  
 

3.3 The Housing Services Asset Management plan will be refreshed in 2016 to 
reflect the latest stock condition information.    
 

3.4 Stock condition survey  
 

3.4.1 The 2015 survey assessed what the council would need to spend overall in 
the next 30 years to maintain its homes.  
 

3.4.2 The total cost of this work was assessed as being £279m including the 
existing commitment to 150 new homes (an average of £8.9m a year on 
the current stock and its environment). These figures are at November 
2015 prices and inflationary increases are applied within the financial 
modelling in the resources section of this plan at chapter 5.   
 

3.4.4 A summary of the investment figures from the 2015 survey and accounting 
for other identified priorities the expenditure profile over the 30 years of this 
plan in 5 year tranches is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



 
 

20 
 

  
 
All figures in 
£m  

Base 
decent 
homes 

Other base 
works 

Additional 
Lincoln 
standard 

Additional 
other: tenant 
priorities, 
additional new 
build 

Total 

 Years 1-5 To do    22,726  

 Years 6-10    8,758  

 Years 11-15    3,191  

 Years 16-20    2,983  

 Years 21-25    1,907  

 Years  26-30    1,454  

 Total    41,018 278,757 
 

3.4.5 The repairs categories above can be summarised as follows: 
 
Base decent homes works are those that relate to works specified in the 
2006 national Decent Homes target. They primarily relate to property 
structure and the essential fixtures and fittings therein i.e. kitchens, 
bathroom, heating works, door, roofs, etc.  
 
Other base works are equally as essential and relate to items such as 
asbestos removal, structural defects works, plastering and substantial 
works to void (or empty) properties.  
 
Lincoln Standard are the additional costs associated with the new Lincoln 
Standard which includes overbath showers for all, lever taps and safety 
flooring in kitchens and bathrooms for Supported Housing. Also included 
are the St Botolphs improvement works and an allowance amount for 
some remodelling at De Wint court.  
 
Additional other are defined as works to the environment of HRA 
property, door entry systems, TV systems in flats, others but most 
substantially the new build programme. 
 

3.4.6 The figures from the survey are at autumn 2015 prices and include inflation 
allowances of RPI +1% initially and RPI at flat rate in the medium and long 
term.       
 

3.5 Work required 
 

3.5.1 Within each category the stock condition survey gave some detailed 
information as to what work was assessed as being required on particular 
elements.  

 
3.5.2 With a small number of exceptions all windows are now double-glazed but 

there are some places where work is now required on the frames. An 
emerging issue is that some of the windows and doors are now 20 or more 
years old and construction standards have improved to the extent that energy 
efficiency could be significantly improved in some properties if we upgraded 
the current double-glazed units. Replacement double glazing is therefore 
allowed for in the investment profile. 
 

30



 
 

21 
 

3.5.3 There are currently 306 non-traditional construction properties in the stock. 
These are mainly concrete panel construction (rather than bricks and mortar). 
We are required by legislation to keep a close watch on their condition and at 
five yearly intervals they are subject to formal inspection. We have allowed 
£1.5m over the period of the plan for additional expenditure relating 
specifically to these properties. Over the next five years we intend to carry out 
more detailed optional appraisal studies on each type of defective property to 
assess expenditure liabilities compared to refurbishment and renewal costs. 
The 306 properties are as follows: 

 54 Cornish Houses – defective as defined in legislation 

 30 Wates Houses – defective as defined in legislation 

 18 Taylor Woodrow Houses – not covered by the legislation 

 139 Arcon Bungalows – defective as defined in legislation 

 65 Hawksley Bungalows – defective as defined in legislation 
 
 

3.5.6 The Lincoln Standard most notably includes for overbath showers to all 
properties and works to all Supported Housing units to help prevent trips, 
which is a major cause of ill-health in the City as per recent County Council 
produced public health documentation. The works to prevent trips are non-slip 
flooring to be installed in all Supported Housing property kitchens and 
bathroom and handrails to the main access point to such properties where the 
gradient exceeds 1:20. 
 

3.5.7 The shower works are by far the major expenditure commitment of the Lincoln 
standard and are assessed at £8.2m over the life of the plan. It is felt that 
such expenditure is warranted as the public sector stock does have some 
catching up to do to match the position of most owner occupied and decent 
private rented properties. In the 21

st
 century is it realistic to expect people to 

run a bath if they wish to wash before going to work? A consultation process 
with all tenants was undertaken in relation to the potential adoption of the new 
Lincoln property standard in the autumn of 2015. Utilising a pre-paid reply 
process, information on the new standard was detailed in the quarterly tenant 
magazine, Home! Out of those that replied there was overwhelming support 
for the proposals.       
 

3.6 Garages 
 

3.6.1 The Council owns some 134 garage sites. All are in need of some repair to 
greater or lesser extent. A mixed programme of sale, refurbishment and 
redevelopment needs to be worked upon in 2016/17.  
 

3.6.2 The sites represent a considerable portfolio of assets to the HRA and it is 
planned to undertake the pilot refurbishment of one site and charge higher 
garage rents to reflect the investment. This has worked in other locations 
where there is demand for a garage facility. Sites have been upgraded with 
improved lighting, surfaces and new wider garages and rents have been 
increased to around £10 p.w. In these scenarios, with a reasonable number of 
garages in the one location, the investment made should be recouped in a 10-
12 year period.      
 

3.7 Budget 2016-21 

31



 
 

22 
 

 

3.7.1 The key variables as they relate to stock investment are already accounted for 
in the base budget i.e.: 
 

 most of the £48.6m projected to be invested in the next five years is 
already under contract in the Kier partnership arrangement i.e. risks of 
retendering with significantly higher prices is minimal    

 

 the original new build programme at £100,000 per unit ‘all- in’ cost has 
been upgraded to £106,300 in this plan to reflect the recent and current 
higher than RPI inflation in the construction sector 

 
 

3.8 Best value 
 

3.8.1 Most of the works required and included in the stock investment profile (the 
most notable exception being new build) are already covered by the Kier open 
book partnership arrangement. There is over two years to run on the existing 
initial five year term of that contract and therefore costs relating to major 
component renewals are ‘known’. 
 

3.8.2 Within the forthcoming year more work will be done on assessing the options 
for the future of the major works partnering contract. This assessment will 
inevitably be around price and quality i.e. best value.      
 

3.8.3 Over 40% asbestos surveys have been done and where the material has 
been readily removable and/or it represents anything other than low risk it has 
been taken out. Over £5m has been reserved in the plan for continuing 
surveys and removal.   
 

Action points 
 

3.1 Continue to deliver the investment programme in the current stock and 
complete all works on schedule by March 2017.  
 

3.2  Review options for the future of the major component contract by April 
2017.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



 
 

23 
 

 
4 Performance 

 
“Does the plan clearly demonstrate current performance on housing 
management, repair services and capital programming?” 
 

4.1 The business plan sets out at Appendix A, current performance 
information (as at 31st December 2015) for the housing service against the 
indicators it is responsible for, along with last and previous year’s out-turn 
figures and the latest audited comparison data for benchmarking 
purposes.  
 

4.2 To enhance performance measurement a Housing Sub-Committee of 
members and tenants was established in 2008. This group now looks at 
detailed performance information across a range of housing performance 
measures. The focus of such reporting is mainly on indicators where targets 
are not being achieved. 

 
4.3 The Executive Committee also receives, on a quarterly basis, information on 

compliance with and progress towards meeting a suite of key core strategic 
and operational objectives.  

 
4.4 Detailed performance statistics will continue to be reviewed by the Housing 

Services Management team on a monthly basis.  

 
4.5 Within the housing service, statistics on performance and activity are 

communicated through the monthly team brief process. This is a written brief 
to the whole Housing team issued by the Director.   

 
4.6 At the highest level, there is a Service Plan that summarises the operational 

objectives of the service in the coming year, aligned to the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.  

 
4.7 Some of the local performance indicators which are monitored by the service 

management team were developed as a result of the local offers consultation 
with our tenants which took place initially in 2011 and then again in 2013. A 
local offers and standards document was published in June 2013 in 
conjunction with the Lincoln Tenants Panel. Supporting this commitment 
document is a delivery document which is utilised by officers to track and 
action progress against the commitments given.  

  
4.8 The City of Lincoln Housing Service achieved the nationally recognised 

Customer Service Excellence Standard in 2013 which was reassessed and 
reaffirmed in 2015.  The Service also received the National Tenant 
Organisation’s accreditation for resident involvement in 2014.  

 
4.9 In summary as performance on key indicators such as rent income and void 

property rent loss are now good there is only marginal, if any, room for 
improvement and, thereby, increased income. The challenge in forthcoming 
years is to maintain performance on these key indicators at current levels. 
The possible exceptions to that is the collection of former tenant arrears and 

33



 
 

24 
 

rechargeable repairs where performance has not been as effective as it could 
have been. This operation is delivered by the Finance service and will be the 
subject of fundamental review in 2016/17.   

 
4.10 In terms of benchmarking across our peer group in the local authority housing 

sector none of the key performance indicators (KPIs) detailed in appendix 1 
sit in the lower quartile. All our KPIs sit in the median quartiles. We recognise 
that the benchmarking position is much improved within the last calendar year 
but that work is ongoing to embed these improvements and build further upon 
them.  
 

4.11 Our current key performance indicators suggest we’re an average performing 
Housing Service which is improving. Our target within two years is to have 
more indicators in the upper quartile sector than median quartiles. 
  

Action points 
 
4.1 Maintain and improve the suite of performance and service standards 

still further. 
  

4.2 To have more benchmarked key performance indicators at upper 
quartile rather than median quartile levels by April 2018.  
 

4.3 Review the former tenant arrears and rechargeable repairs collection 
processes by March 2017. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



 
 

25 
 

 
5 Resources 

 
“Is there a realistic assessment of current and likely future revenue and 
capital resources?” 
 

5.1 Current position  
 

5.1.1 The introduction of the self-financing regime from April 2012 has enabled the 
HRA to agree balanced budgets together with a strategic plan of how the 
service should be developed in forthcoming years.  

 
5.1.2 We are spending more on the properties that we ever have done before.  

 
5.1.3 Performance of the service is improving across the board and the immediate 

investment needed in the current stock (2012-2017 programme) is 75% 
complete and scheduled to meet the full completion target of March 2017. 
The initial phase of new build is well underway. Development of and spend on 
new initiatives such as environmental works and garage refurbishment 
schemes are either underway or scheduled for 2016 or 2017 starts.  

 
5.1.4 Generally, in terms of management costs, the council regularly compares 

itself against other councils and this benchmarked data shows that the City of 
Lincoln Council is low cost compared to our peer group local authorities and 
is providing a median quality service. As discussed in the previous chapter 
performance is improving and the aim is to have the majority of indicators at 
upper quartile levels by March 2018.     

 
5.1.4 As current costs, future costs and service demands are known and are 

accounted for, the formation of this 2016 HRA Business Plan is therefore 
largely focussed on the capacity to deliver an additional new build and 
acquisition programme.   

 
5.2 Budget 2016-17 

 
5.2.1 The key variables are already accounted for in the base budget: i.e. 

 

 The staffing complement is currently subject to review with a 
proposal to reduce base management costs in the HRA by £90k 
per annum in 2016/17. Further staffing savings are possible through 
a service review of the Supported Housing Service scheduled for 
2016/17. 
 

 Salary increases have been incorporated into the base budget at an 
average of 1% in 2016/17 to 2019/20 and then 2% up to 2026 and 
then at the Retail Prices Index for the remaining term. 

 

 Central establishment recharges are projected to go up annually at 
the rate agreed in the Medium term Financial Strategy  

 

 The significant stock investment requirements are known as a 

35



 
 

26 
 

result of the major works partnering contract.  
 

 The phase 1 new build and acquisition project for the remaining 120 
properties (from an original 150 commitment) has in this now been 
re-budgeted for at £12.8m. 

 

 Rent lost through void property turnaround time has been 
maintained in the plan at 1% of budget on an ongoing basis 
although this is currently bettered by recent performance. 

 

 Although rent arrears increased through the 3 years to autumn 
2014 (a period which included introduction of the bedroom tax) they 
reduced overall during the 2014/15 financial year and continue to 
show further reduction to December 2015.   

 
5.2.2 One of the key variables that remains ‘unknown’ but is on the horizon is 

the effect of direct payments on rent arrears.   As part of the move to 
Universal Credit, and thereby the wholesale change in the current welfare 
benefits process, the Government are introducing direct payments to 
claimants for Housing public sector rents.  That means that instead of the 
housing benefit or rent being paid to the landlord the money goes to the 
tenant for them to pay to their landlord.  Experience nationwide in the pilot 
projects for Universal Credit is that this will increase non-payment of rent, 
rent arrears and therefore reduce the projected income into the housing 
business.  Some account of this variable needs to be taken in forecasting 
the HRA particularly over the forthcoming 5 years. 
 

5.2.3 In financial terms, debts relating to rent arrears are written out in the bad 
debt provision which is contributed to each year i.e. the process is that 
100% collection is assumed until write out.  Only relatively modest 
amounts are written out each year. Over the last four years an average of 
£175k has been written off per annum or 0.64% of rental income.  Over 
the last four years an average of £296k has been contributed to the bad 
debt provision annually which equates to 1.08% of rental income. This 
shows a prudent approach has been taken in relation to this issue and but 
for the introduction of Universal Credit would have been factored down in 
this plan. 
 

5.2.4  At the time of formulating this plan (January 2016) there is emerging (but 
not finalised) government policy relating to the ‘pay to stay’ and enforced 
sale of ‘high value’ void levy. These will have financial, management and 
strategic implications for the HRA Business Plan, the Council, its tenants 
and waiting list applicants.      
   

5.3 Debt 
 

5.3.1 As part of the HRA self-financing process the Council took on a debt of 
£24.931m. On the day of settlement (1st April 2012) the outstanding debt on 
the HRA was £33.660m. Therefore the opening self-financing debt level at 1st 
April 2012 was £58.591m. The debt cap placed on the Council by 

36



 
 

27 
 

Government was £66.017m giving borrowing ‘headroom’ of £7.426m.  

 
5.3.2 The debt settlement was financed through a series of Public Works Loans 

Board (PWLB – a government agency) loans as below.  
 

5.4 Maximising all available remaining HRA resources for New Build 
 

5.4.1 This refreshed HRA Business Plan proposes that given that the Council is 
in the process of meeting its previous commitments to property 
improvements, environmental improvements, service developments and 
phase 1 new build any additional available resources should primarily be 
targeted at phase 2 new build.  
 

5.4.2 The following projections therefore are based on that premise and 
ensuring that the future projections on all other spend areas are fully 
resourced.        
 

5.5 Financial Plan – the base position 
 

5.5.1 The financial plan has been based on the budget for 2016/17, current 
spending patterns and the already agreed investments in current stock, 
service developments, the Lincoln Standard and phase 1 new build.   
 

5.5.2 The council’s financial policy for the housing revenue account is that as 
main indicators there should be a reserve balance of at least £1m on the 
main HRA and an additional £0.5m on the repairs account to act as 
contingency funds. This is in accordance with recommendations by the 
council’s S151 officer to reflect the number and condition of the council’s 
homes.  
 

5.5.3 As a self-financing business with a borrowing cap the HRA cannot operate 
in deficit particularly in the situation of utilising all of the borrowing cap 
facility. Therefore keeping a constant review of income and expenditure is 
vitally important activity for the Council to undertake through the in-year 
and medium term financial reviews happening on a quarterly and half 
yearly basis through the Council’s Executive Committee.   
 

5.5.4 The operating account for 2015/16 shows a surplus/deficit of £xxxm  
leaving an HRA reserve balance of £m. The income and expenditure on 
the account is summarised below:  
 

5.5.5 The full 30 year base plan is shown in summary form in appendices B and 
C with the assumptions used summarised at Appendix F. In Appendix C, 
the capital improvement programme is based on the expenditure that has 
been identified as part of the stock condition survey, Phase 1 of the new 
build programme underway and assuming a Phase 2 programme utilising 
some of the remaining available resources.  
 

5.6 Sensitivity analysis 
 

37



 
 

28 
 

5.6.1 The main variables to be considered in the projections is the effect of 
increased Right to Buy sales and a continuation of the national rent policy 
that depresses rents in the future whilst costs continue to rise. The latter is 
not projected as government have stated that national rent policy will 
revert to CPI +1% from 2020.   
 

5.6.2 In the self-financing settlement the government projected the number of 
Right to Buy sales i.e. they tried to take account of the effect of sales in 
arriving at the amount of debt to be taken on by each authority. However 
the valuation discount rules were then changed in the early Spring of 2012 
immediately prior to self-financing going live. This has led to RTBs in the 
first four years of self-financing running at a level upto twice as high as 
projected. Although government has allowed councils to keep all of the 
generated income (subject to satisfying rules about investment in new 
build) the increased sales have an overall negative effect on the business 
plan given that the lost revenue income over 30 years exceeds the 
immediate capital receipt.    
 

5.6.3 Alternative revenue projections have been run assuming that the Council 
sells an average of an additional 5 properties per year than those in the 
base projection. This has the effect of reducing income by some £6.819m 
in the 30 years of the plan and although this will be offset to some extent 
by reduced expenditure it is clearly a heightened risk in the plan. After 
taking account of the reduced expenditure and the capital from the sale of 
an additional 5 RTB properties each year the effect would be to reduce the 
new build potential by 54 properties.     
 

5.6.4 Although most of our current debt is at fixed rates a change in prevailing 
interest rates may still have an effect on the business plan, in respect of 
any new borrowing that needs to be undertaken as well as the re-financing 
risk on existing debt. In additional the business plan assumes a significant 
amount of investment income which is subject to fluctuations in the 
prevailing interest rates.   
 

5.6.5 Income is sensitive in the model in relation to inflation assumptions but 
costs are similarly linked and interest charges will be largely fixed. 
Therefore overall, upward changes in inflation generally have a positive 
effect on the financial plan.    
 

5.7 Risk Analysis 
 

5.7.1 Aligned with the sensitivity analysis the council has identified the main 
areas of risk involved in running the housing service as set out in 
Appendix G.  
 

5.7.2 The most significant issue could be in retaining the HRA revenue balance 
in the black if the Council’s corporate treatment of depreciation potentially 
overstates the investment needs of the housing stock. However the 
current projections maintain the reserve account balance of £1m 
throughout the period of the plan. 

38



 
 

29 
 

 
5.7.3 Other areas of risk relate to ensuring that the council continues to comply 

with legislative changes including maintenance and improvement work 
such as asbestos legislation, gas servicing and electrical testing.   
 

5.7.5 An increase in the level of current arrears has been identified as a low risk 
area but this may need revision in the light of housing benefit changes in 
the move to Universal Credit. However, a very prudent approach to debt 
risk was taken in the previous plan. It is therefore proposed not to increase 
the contribution to the provision for bad debts at this time but to leave it at 
the existing annual level. This position will need to be kept under review as 
more and more claimants in the area move across from existing benefits 
onto the Universal Credit system.   
 

5.7.6 In the current risk register, the only other high risk area relates to the lack 
of tenant participation. This risk is ongoing in that the numbers of tenants 
formally involved in participation activity remains low. The risk is the 
potential breach in the co-regulation arrangements required by the 
Government’s Homes and Communities agency (HCA) requiring the 
Council to involve tenants in monitoring and improving service delivery. 
However our experience is in line with many Districts where service 
delivery is effective and satisfaction levels are high.  
 

5.8 Rent and Service Charges 
 

5.8.1 The base financial model has been built on the assumption that rents for 
continuing tenants will change in accordance with current government 
guidance. Therefore, general purpose stock rents will generally reduce by 
1% in each of the next four years commencing April 2016. The current 
average weekly rent for the GP stock is £70.94. The 1% rent reduction 
would reduce this to £70.23 (ignoring any changes in stock profile  
 

5.8.2 From April 2020 rents are projected to increase in line with the Consumer 
Prices Index (CPI) inflation + 1%. The former convergence formula in the 
10+ year period to April 2015 meant rents rose annually by the Retail 
Prices Index (RPI) + 0.5% + £2 towards convergence. The CPI + 1% 
formula has been modelled in the 30 year business plan and marginally 
reduces still further the income in the plan from on-going or existing 
tenants.  
 

5.8.3 It is projected in the plan that when properties become vacant the rent for 
the new tenant is based on the previous full formula rent for the property. 
This will be a continuation of a policy now in its fourth year of operation. In 
subsequent years the rent would then be subject to the national policy as 
per 5.8.2 above.   
 

5.8.4 In effect therefore there will be three separate strands to the rent policy.       
 

5.8.5 At the present time the council has not disaggregated any service charges 
that relate to costs that only apply to certain properties e.g. flats. Therefore 

39



 
 

30 
 

these costs are currently pooled to be paid for by all tenants, whether or 
not they receive the services. This potentially represents an additional 
income source into the HRA.   
 

5.8.6 A review of service charges is a two stage process; firstly to assess what 
could be charged and recovered and secondly to decide whether or not to 
implement the charges. Carrying out the initial review in the first stage 
does not necessarily mean moving to stage two if this is considered too 
difficult or problematic.  
 

5.8.7 Some other costs have been identified in relation to supported housing 
schemes where communal facilities are being used and/or subsidised as 
general community assets. These should also be reviewed to decide 
whether action or change in funding is required going forward to support 
the HRA.  
 

5.9 Treasury Management and Depreciation 
 

5.9.1 The Council retains the service of a treasury management adviser.  
 

5.9.2 The HRA debt is accounted for separately to the general fund under the 
‘two pool’ arrangements making the HRA debt and interest accounted for 
within the HRA. There are though some smaller historic debts which are 
difficult to delineate in this way.   
 

5.10 
 

Impairment 
 

5.10.1 Impairment however cannot be estimated nor provided for in advance. 
This may pose a problem if in future years the housing stock were to suffer 
an impairment as this charge would have to be borne by the HRA revenue 
account - the impact could potentially be significant.   
 

5.10.2 The issue relating to impairment is currently under review and being 
challenged due to its unpredictable nature and so is unclear at present 
whether this will be a real concern in the future but is certainly worth 
further consideration. 
 

5.11 Phase 2 HRA New Build programme 
 

5.11.1 Given all other known commitments and utilising a new build cost of £126k 
(inclusive of an average land value of £15k) there is capacity to embark on 
a wholly HRA funded new build phase 2 programme of 100 additional 
units over the next 5 years. In effect this would mean that in the first 6/7 
years of self-financing we would have delivered 250 new homes for social 
rent.  
 

Action points: 
 
5.1 Update the risk register to reflect changed risks. 

 

40



 
 

31 
 

5.2 Maintain the contribution to the provision for bad debts at 1% of 
annual debit. 
 

5.3 Await future guidance and then undertake further work on the 
potential for impairment to detrimentally affect the projections within 
the plan. 
 

5.4 Review the disaggregation of service charges from rents to identify 
the elements of a potential charge, assess the additional income and 
consider the issues around implementation. 
 

5.5 Review funding and service levels in the Supported Housing Service.  
 
 

41



 
 

32 
 

 
6 Priorities 

“How well is the statement of priority areas for action justified and linked to 
the analysis of stock condition and supply/demand?” 
 

6.1 The main identified tenant priorities in the consultation process of 4 years ago 
have been or are in the process of being implemented. Current stock 
investment and new build activity are well underway. A start has been or will 
be shortly made on other priorities such as environmental works, the Lincoln 
Standard and garage site improvements.   

 
6.2 It is now proposed in this plan that a further £16m of remaining available 

resources be allocated to land acquisition and the extension of the new build 
by a further 100 homes. It is envisaged that the land fund be created within 
the HRA but that parcels are sold to partners to enhance the overall new build 
delivery numbers. In this way over £3m is expected to be returned to the 
HRA.  

 
6.3 Phase 2 New Build 

 
6.3.1 Taking account of the resource position outlined in section 5 this should allow 

the development of around a further additional 100 new build and acquisition 
homes in the next five years wholly within the HRA.  

 
6.3.2 Therefore the Council would have delivered two phases of new build and 

approximately 250 new homes within seven years of self-financing. A 
significant achievement in itself but section 7 discusses how it could possibly 
do more.   

 
6.4 Environmental, Estate and Garage site improvements  

 

6.4.1 As identified in pervious sections more needs to be done to deliver on 
previous commitments to environmental and estate improvements. This plan 
equally identifies that a more strategic assessment of garage sites needs to 
be undertaken likely to result in a programme of further improvement works. 
    

Action points 
 
6.1 Implement in full the Lincoln Standard. 

 
6.2 Implement in full Environment and Estate improvement works.  

  

42



 
 

33 
 

 

7 Other options and considerations 
 
“To what extent does the Plan demonstrate proactive consideration of 
alternative ways of addressing priority areas for action?” 
 

7.1 The HRA debt cap 
 

7.1.1 At a national level the key to enable Councils to build more Council 
housing is to remove the HRA debt cap that currently limits HRA 
borrowing.  Nationally it has been estimated that stock retained Councils 
have the financial capacity to support an additional £20-£25 billion 
investment from planned rental income. For the City of Lincoln this would 
mean in practice borrowing in the region of at least a further £25m above 
the current debt cap in the HRA. However even though there is a strong 
case for removing the debt cap, and simply relying on current prudential 
borrowing rules to determine prudent borrowing, there is no prospect of the 
debt cap being lifted. Although there is a long standing and on-going 
debate about whether local authority borrowing should count as 
government borrowing both the current government and opposition (pre-
2015 election) share the view that it does and the thrust of national policy 
is overall debt reduction.   
 

7.1.2 This is though in direct conflict with another current government policy to 
encourage local authorities to build new housing stock wherever they can. 
The government’s response to this dilemma so far has been to set up 
competitive bidding processes for the release of additional borrowing 
permissions within the HRA. Such processes have required Local 
Authorities to have fully worked up projects and bid on quite tight 
timescales to government on a competitive basis for permission to borrow 
beyond the debt cap.   
 

7.1.3 One option the City of Lincoln has to build beyond its current debt cap is to 
build up a portfolio of ‘ready to go’ new build schemes and apply to 
government on any future additional permission bidding round.      

 
7.2 New Build outside the HRA 

 
7.2.1 The Council has ambitions to do all it can to help alleviate the excess of 

demand over supply for affordable housing. This plan proposes that a further 
£16m be committed to land acquisition and new build.  

 
7.2.2 Although there remains some capacity in the HRA it is proposed not to utilise 

all of this at the current time. One key reason for this is to allow time to 
explore a leasing option where additional new build is delivered by a partner 
organisation building with a lease arrangement back to the Council. The 
Council would let and manage the properties from construction through to an 
option in a specified period (such as 15 or 20 years) to purchase the 
properties. The main advantage of such a proposal is that it spreads the risk 
of capital outlay but the disadvantage is that higher interest rates are built into 

43



 
 

34 
 

the model and higher rents would need to be charged. The purchase option at 
the end of the lease would only work if the HRA had the resources available.  

 
7.2.3 Retaining though a modest capital investment facility at this time also helps 

guard against continuing changes in national policy as it relates to housing 
revenue accounts. Therefore, the Council has decided to explore options to 
build outside of the HRA.   

 
7.2.2 The term JVC is used to describe a joint venture with partners (typically 

the private sector: developers, institutional investors, and potentially the 
HCA) in which the local authority has a stake, generally through the input 
of land.  
 

7.2.3 A report to the Executive Committee in July 2015 considered the JV option 
and decided against it in favour of a wholly owned company model. The 
main reasons for not considering the JVC model were: 
 

 Although there are growing examples of such schemes they tend to 
be in metropolitan areas where there is a track record of direct LA 
intervention in regeneration  

 

 The structural and governance arrangements for the partnership are 
expensive and take years to develop (although as more schemes 
progress this burden should reduce).  

 

 Private finance will be looking for either a short term high return or a 
long term large low risk investment i.e. a City of Lincoln only project 
would be unlikely to deliver either requirement.   

 

 Most schemes are predicated on the Local Authority inputting its 
own developable land. There is very limited land currently in the 
Council’s ownership that is developable for housing  

 
7.2.4 The option exists to create a wholly owned company. The main advantage 

of this is that the borrowing needed to build the houses could be outside of 
the HRA i.e. within the General Fund. Those Councils which set up Arms-
Length Management Organisations (ALMOs) to manage their stock in the 
2000-2010 period have a ready-made company in which to develop where 
properties can be funded by debt taken on by the General Fund. An 
additional benefit is that such properties can be let on Assured Shorthold 
Tenancies and therefore be exempt from the Right to Buy. Neighbours in 
Derby and Nottingham are currently developing through their ALMOs.  
 

7.2.5 For those councils without ALMOs and wanting to develop beyond their 
HRA debt cap the establishment of a wholly owned company could be the 
quickest, least risky and most straightforward way of developing.   

 
7.2.6 Such companies are also able to enter into other sectors of the housing 

market i.e. building for market rent and/or sale. Indeed, several Councils 
which have recently set up such wholly owned development companies 

44



 
 

35 
 

have them involved in wider housing activity. In the case of South 
Cambridgeshire DC or Daventry this has involved the letting of private 
sector stock as part of regeneration/improvement works.   
 

7.2.7 For the City of Lincoln detailed feasibility work has been undertaken and 
report on progressing the creation of a company has been written to 
accompany this plan through the Executive and Council decision making 
process. Expert and external advice and support has been utilised in 
preparing that proposal.   
 

Action Point 
 
7.1 The Council commits to the creation of a wholly owned company to 

be primarily funded by on-lending from the General Fund.  
 
 

45



 
 

36 
 

HRA Performance indicators – Quarter 3 2015/16          APPENDIX 1 

Reference 
 

Description Actual  
2013/14 

Actual  
2014/15 

Actual at 
Q3 2015/16 

Target 
2015/16 

Rents 

BVPI 66A Percentage of rent collected as a percentage of rent due 101.3% 97.5% 102.02% 100% 

LPI HO6 Arrears as a % of rent debit 3.36% 3.3% 2.21% 2.75% 

Voids 

LPI HO2 Percentage of rent lost due to vacant dwellings 1.28% 1.09% 0.82% 0.9% 

BVPI 212A Average re-let period – all dwellings (excluding major works) 34.81 days 33.71 days 18.98 days 23 days 

Allocations 

LPI HO18 Percentage of offers accepted first time 83.8% 86% 85.6% 85% 

Repairs 

HIP 1 (HO3) Percentage of all repairs carried out within time limits 95.3% 90.3% 88.5% 95% 

 Percentage of all emergency repairs carried out within 24 hours 95.0% 93.6% 99.7% 99.5% 

HIP 2 (HO4) Average time taken to complete repairs 12 days 21 days 13 days 20 days 

CMS 1 Repair appointments kept against appointments made (%) 86% 82% 96% 90% 

CMS 3 Tenant satisfaction with repairs 98.9% 98.2% 97.0% 95% 

 Complete repairs right on first visit 66.5% No data 79.8% (Nov) 75% 

Decent Homes 

NI 158 Percentage of non-decent homes 1.9% 0.46% 2.46% 2% 

 Percentage of homes with valid gas safety certificate 99.8% 99.9% 100% 100% 

Complaints      

LPI HO30 Percentage of complaints replied to in 10 working days 85.3% 77.4%  98.3% 95%  

LPI HO32 Appeals, MP Letters, replied to on time 70.1% 70% 98% (inc. Cllr 
this year) 

95% 

ASB      

 Percentage of ASB cases closed that were resolved 88.7% 92.1% 93.2% 94% 

 Average days to resolve ASB cases 99 days 152 days 93 days 80 days 

Other      

 Expenditure against target set for year – responsive maintenance 106% 113.71% 70% 100% 

 Expenditure against target set for year – capital programme 108.5% 101.43% 55% 100% 

Estate Services      

 Satisfaction with communal areas 90% 90% 90% 90% 

Customer Contact 

 Percentage of calls answered within 60 seconds 64.7% 66% 60% (excl. Q1) 80% 

 Customer satisfaction with whole service  88% 85% 85% N/A 

46



 
 

37 
 

 Appendix B 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT PROJECTIONS

City of Lincoln Council

Year 2016.17 2017.18 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31

£'000 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15

INCOME:

Rental Income 28,570 28,361 28,208 28,185 28,500 29,181 29,888 30,697 31,549 32,426 33,335 34,277 35,247 36,246 37,274

Void Losses -286 -284 -282 -282 -285 -292 -299 -307 -315 -324 -333 -343 -352 -362 -373

Service Charges 489 501 517 532 548 566 584 603 622 642 663 684 706 728 752

Non-Dwelling Income 552 601 619 715 736 760 784 809 835 862 889 918 947 978 1,009

Grants & Other Income 74 76 78 81 83 86 88 91 94 97 100 103 107 110 114

Total Income 29,398 29,256 29,139 29,231 29,583 30,301 31,046 31,893 32,785 33,702 34,653 35,639 36,654 37,699 38,775

EXPENDITURE:

General Management -4,747 -4,850 -4,931 -4,980 -5,032 -5,161 -5,293 -5,428 -5,567 -5,710 -5,893 -6,082 -6,276 -6,477 -6,684

Special Management -1,516 -1,541 -1,566 -1,586 -1,613 -1,654 -1,697 -1,741 -1,786 -1,832 -1,891 -1,952 -2,014 -2,079 -2,145

Other Management 589 -161 -160 -159 -159 -168 -174 -179 -185 -191 -197 -203 -210 -216 -223

Rent Rebates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bad Debt Provision -293 -290 -288 -285 -294 -301 -308 -316 -325 -334 -344 -353 -363 -374 -384

Responsive & Cyclical Repairs -8,262 -8,440 -8,631 -8,832 -9,007 -8,823 -9,097 -9,423 -9,766 -10,082 -10,409 -10,749 -11,100 -11,463 -11,837

Total Revenue Expenditure -14,229 -15,282 -15,576 -15,844 -16,105 -16,107 -16,568 -17,088 -17,630 -18,150 -18,734 -19,339 -19,964 -20,609 -21,274

Interest Paid -2,368 -2,374 -2,425 -2,519 -2,466 -2,489 -2,481 -2,369 -2,409 -2,324 -2,339 -2,264 -2,252 -2,210 -2,131

Finance Administration -51 -42 -42 -42 -43 -41 -42 -44 -45 -47 -48 -50 -51 -53 -55

Interest Received 54 55 69 89 159 219 213 217 214 211 181 232 274 299 326

Depreciation -10,478 -10,475 -10,530 -10,536 -10,540 -7,903 -8,120 -8,351 -8,594 -8,845 -9,105 -9,374 -9,651 -9,936 -10,230

Net Operating Income 2,325 1,138 635 381 587 3,979 4,047 4,259 4,321 4,548 4,609 4,844 5,010 5,190 5,412

APPROPRIATIONS:

FRS 17 /Other HRA Reserve Adj 95 6 -3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Provision (HRACFR) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Contribution to Capital -1,440 -2,125 -601 0 0 0 -3,280 -3,484 -5,301 -3,808 -2,382 -1,894 -3,758 -3,887 -3,967

Total Appropriations -1,346 -2,119 -604 2 1 0 -3,280 -3,484 -5,301 -3,808 -2,382 -1,894 -3,758 -3,887 -3,967

ANNUAL CASHFLOW 980 -981 32 382 588 3,979 767 775 -980 739 2,226 2,950 1,252 1,303 1,445

Opening Balance 1,000 1,980 998 1,030 1,412 2,000 5,980 6,747 7,522 6,542 7,281 9,508 12,458 13,710 15,013

Closing Balance 1,980 998 1,030 1,412 2,000 5,980 6,747 7,522 6,542 7,281 9,508 12,458 13,710 15,013 16,458

Other HRA Reserve Balance 1,561 1,845 1,844 1,837 1,833 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748

HRA Debt Repayment Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
 

47



 
 

38 
 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT PROJECTIONS

City of Lincoln Council

Year 2031.32 2032.33 2033.34 2034.35 2035.36 2036.37 2037.38 2038.39 2039.40 2040.41 2041.42 2042.43 2043.44 2044.45 2045.46

£'000 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

INCOME:

Rental Income 38,346 39,463 40,613 41,799 43,021 44,295 45,623 46,993 48,405 49,862 51,371 52,934 54,546 56,210 57,925

Void Losses -383 -395 -406 -418 -430 -443 -456 -470 -484 -499 -514 -529 -545 -562 -579

Service Charges 776 800 826 852 880 908 937 967 998 1,030 1,063 1,097 1,132 1,168 1,205

Non-Dwelling Income 1,041 1,074 1,109 1,144 1,181 1,219 1,258 1,298 1,339 1,382 1,427 1,472 1,519 1,568 1,618

Grants & Other Income 117 121 125 129 133 137 142 146 151 156 161 166 171 177 182

Total Income 39,896 41,064 42,267 43,507 44,784 46,116 47,503 48,934 50,409 51,931 53,507 55,139 56,823 58,560 60,352

EXPENDITURE:

General Management -6,898 -7,119 -7,347 -7,582 -7,825 -8,075 -8,333 -8,600 -8,875 -9,159 -9,452 -9,755 -10,067 -10,389 -10,722

Special Management -2,214 -2,284 -2,358 -2,433 -2,511 -2,591 -2,674 -2,760 -2,848 -2,939 -3,033 -3,130 -3,230 -3,334 -3,441

Other Management -231 -238 -246 -253 -262 -270 -279 -287 -297 -306 -316 -326 -336 -347 -358

Rent Rebates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Bad Debt Provision -395 -407 -419 -431 -444 -457 -470 -485 -499 -514 -530 -546 -562 -580 -597

Responsive & Cyclical Repairs-12,226 -12,632 -13,051 -13,484 -13,931 -14,397 -14,883 -15,384 -15,903 -16,439 -16,995 -17,572 -18,168 -18,785 -19,422

Total Revenue Expenditure -21,964 -22,680 -23,420 -24,184 -24,972 -25,790 -26,639 -27,516 -28,422 -29,358 -30,326 -31,329 -32,365 -33,434 -34,540

Interest Paid -2,054 -1,983 -1,881 -1,838 -1,786 -1,683 -1,580 -1,476 -1,372 -1,281 -1,154 -1,166 -1,059 -997 -925

Finance Administration -56 -58 -60 -62 -64 -66 -68 -70 -72 -75 -77 -80 -82 -85 -88

Interest Received 362 405 443 478 503 513 521 530 540 553 611 683 739 810 905

Depreciation -10,535 -10,854 -11,183 -11,521 -11,869 -12,233 -12,612 -13,002 -13,405 -13,820 -14,250 -14,696 -15,155 -15,629 -16,118

Net Operating Income 5,648 5,892 6,166 6,380 6,597 6,857 7,125 7,399 7,678 7,951 8,310 8,551 8,901 9,225 9,587

APPROPRIATIONS:

FRS 17 /Other HRA Reserve Adj 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Provision (HRACFR) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Contribution to Capital-3,539 -3,659 -4,557 -4,451 -5,918 -6,532 -6,660 -6,954 -7,093 -7,237 -3,223 -6,336 -5,453 -5,503 -3,695

Total Appropriations -3,539 -3,659 -4,557 -4,451 -5,918 -6,532 -6,660 -6,954 -7,093 -7,237 -3,223 -6,336 -5,453 -5,503 -3,695

ANNUAL CASHFLOW 2,109 2,234 1,609 1,929 679 324 466 445 585 714 5,086 2,215 3,449 3,722 5,892

Opening Balance 16,458 18,568 20,802 22,411 24,340 25,018 25,343 25,809 26,254 26,839 27,553 32,639 34,855 38,304 42,026

Closing Balance 18,568 20,802 22,411 24,340 25,018 25,343 25,809 26,254 26,839 27,553 32,639 34,855 38,304 42,026 47,918

Other HRA Reserve Balance 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748 748

HRA Debt Repayment Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  

48



 
 

39 
 

Appendix C  

HOUSING CAPITAL PROJECTIONS

City of Lincoln Council

Year 2016.17 2017.18 2018.19 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.30 2030.31

£'000 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15

EXPENDITURE:

Planned Variable Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 -27 -39 -80 -108 -111 -147 -163 -215 -252 -260

Planned Fixed Expenditure -12,942 -7,836 -8,011 -7,641 -7,885 -11,367 -11,731 -12,106 -12,494 -12,894 -11,102 -11,457 -11,824 -12,202 -12,593

Disabled Adaptations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure -8,306 -6,229 -7,483 -3,975 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Procurement Fees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Previous Year's B/F Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Capital Expenditure -21,248 -14,065 -15,494 -11,617 -7,885 -11,395 -11,770 -12,186 -12,601 -13,005 -11,248 -11,621 -12,039 -12,454 -12,853

FUNDING:

Major Repairs Reserve 17,140 10,475 10,530 10,364 6,632 9,061 7,751 8,351 6,949 8,845 8,514 9,374 8,006 8,291 8,609

Right to Buy Receipts 660 658 581 581 582 582 505 351 351 352 352 353 276 276 276

HRA CFR Borrowing 0 663 3,111 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Receipts/Grants 0 433 667 667 667 667 233 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserves 2,007 -290 4 4 4 1,085 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Contributions 1,440 2,125 601 0 0 0 3,280 3,484 5,301 3,808 2,382 1,894 3,758 3,887 3,967

Total Capital Funding 21,248 14,065 15,494 11,617 7,885 11,395 11,770 12,186 12,601 13,005 11,248 11,621 12,039 12,454 12,853

In-Year Net Cashflow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cumulative Position 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR Account:

Opening Balance 6,661 0 0 0 172 4,079 1,276 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net Contribution (Depr) 10,478 10,475 10,530 10,536 10,540 7,903 8,120 8,351 8,594 8,845 9,105 9,374 9,651 9,936 10,230

Use of Reserve to Capital -17,140 -10,475 -10,530 -10,364 -6,632 -9,061 -7,751 -8,351 -6,949 -8,845 -8,514 -9,374 -8,006 -8,291 -8,609

Contribution to HRACFR 0 0 0 0 0 -1,645 -1,645 0 -1,645 0 -591 0 -1,645 -1,645 -1,620

Closing Balance £0 £0 £0 £172 £4,079 £1,276 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0  

 

49



 
 

40 
 

HOUSING CAPITAL PROJECTIONS

City of Lincoln Council

Year 2031.32 2032.33 2033.34 2034.35 2035.36 2036.37 2037.38 2038.39 2039.40 2040.41 2041.42 2042.43 2043.44 2044.45 2045.46

£'000 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

EXPENDITURE:

Planned Variable Expenditure -324 -356 -450 -516 -533 -550 -567 -585 -604 -624 -643 -664 -685 -707 -730

Planned Fixed Expenditure -12,711 -13,118 -13,537 -13,971 -14,418 -15,382 -15,875 -16,383 -16,907 -17,448 -16,846 -17,385 -17,941 -18,515 -19,108

Disabled Adaptations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Procurement Fees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Previous Year's B/F Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Capital Expenditure -13,035 -13,474 -13,987 -14,487 -14,950 -15,932 -16,442 -16,968 -17,511 -18,071 -17,489 -18,049 -18,627 -19,223 -19,838

FUNDING:

Major Repairs Reserve 9,219 9,538 9,274 9,876 8,869 9,233 9,612 10,002 10,405 10,820 14,250 11,696 13,155 13,698 16,118

Right to Buy Receipts 277 277 156 160 163 167 171 12 13 14 16 17 19 22 25

HRA CFR Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Receipts/Grants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Contributions 3,539 3,659 4,557 4,451 5,918 6,532 6,660 6,954 7,093 7,237 3,223 6,336 5,453 5,503 3,695

Total Capital Funding 13,035 13,474 13,987 14,487 14,950 15,932 16,442 16,968 17,511 18,071 17,489 18,049 18,627 19,223 19,838

In-Year Net Cashflow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cumulative Position 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR Account:

Opening Balance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net Contribution (Depr) 10,535 10,854 11,183 11,521 11,869 12,233 12,612 13,002 13,405 13,820 14,250 14,696 15,155 15,629 16,118

Use of Reserve to Capital -9,219 -9,538 -9,274 -9,876 -8,869 -9,233 -9,612 -10,002 -10,405 -10,820 -14,250 -11,696 -13,155 -13,698 -16,118

Contribution to HRACFR -1,316 -1,316 -1,908 -1,645 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 0 -3,000 -2,000 -1,931 0

Closing Balance £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0  

 

50



 
 

41 
 

 

Appendix D 

 

The key assumptions underlying the base HRA Business Plan forecasts are: 

 2016-17 to 2020-21 expenditure is based on estimates. Expenditure from 2021-22 onwards is increased 
by RPI forecast with the exception of revenue repairs which is increased by RPI+025% 

 

 For years beyond 2021-22 expenditure is uplifted by RPI with the exception of revenue repairs which is 
uplifted by RPI+025% and salaries which is inflated by 2% until 2025/26 and by RPI thereafter. 

 

 For income, the average dwelling rent provided has been multiplied by the number of properties. For 
future years, average rent takes into account stock changes as well as the 1% rent decrease for general 
needs stock for the years 1 to 4 and CPI +1% for years following. The rent decrease has not been 
applied to sheltered housing which is increased by CPI+1% throughout the business plan. Other income 
has been included as per estimates and inflated by RPI for years beyond 2020-21. 

 

 Right to Buys of 9 per quarter has been assumed at 35 per year until 2021/22, then gradually reducing 
to 5 in the last 5 years of the 30 year plan as it is anticipated without reinvigoration demand will reduce.  

 

 An allowance for £125k per year inflated by RPI has been included for the levy for high value voids. 
 

 No demolitions or disposals of existing HRA stock are assumed 
 

51



 
 

42 
 

Appendix E 

52



 
 

43 
 

 

53



 
 

44 
 

 

54



 
 

45 
 

 

55



 
 

46 
 

 

56



 
 

47 
 

  

57



 
 

48 
 

 

  

58



 
 

49 
 

Action points by Chapter 

1.1 Continue to develop effective partnerships with Housing 
Associations to encourage them to deliver more sub-market rented 
and ownership housing in the City.  
 

1.2 Let all social rent properties at their ‘formula rent’ as and when they 
each become available for reletting.  
 

1.3 Overall, decrease rents in general purpose housing stock by 1% in 
each of the next four years and in year 5 and beyond increase the 
rent annually at CPI + 1%. Both elements of this policy to be in 
adherence to current national policy.   
 

1.4 Deliver a Lincare Business Plan for Council approval by 1st July 
2016.  
  

1.6 Complete and implement a full review of the Supported Housing 
Service by 1st April 2017.  
 

1.7 Undertake and deliver a pilot garage refurbishment project by 
September 2017.  
 

1.8 Assess the liability and opportunity for each garage site location in 
terms of investment or alternative use by September 2017.  
  

1.9 Undertake a disaggregation project relating to service charges for 
communal facilities by 1st April 2018.   
 

2.1 Complete the initial five year stock investment programme by April 
2017.   
 

2.2 Extend the new build HRA investment programme to 250 new homes by 
2021 superseding the previous 2014 commitment to 150 new HRA 
homes by 2019.   

 
2.3 Undertake a more substantive programme of communal area and estate 

refurbishments works commencing in 2016 and 2017.     

 
2.4 Embed recent performance outputs from the service to be recognised 

locally and regionally as a good landlord.  
 

2.5 Achieve the national Anti- Social behaviour accreditation standard in 
the autumn of 2016.  

3.1 Continue to deliver the investment programme in the current stock and 
complete all works on schedule by March 2017.  
 

3.2  Review options for the future of the major component contract by April 
2017.  

4.1 Maintain and improve the suite of performance and service 
standards still further. 

59



 
 

50 
 

  
4.2 To have more benchmarked key performance indicators at upper 

quartile rather than median quartile levels by April 2018.  
 

4.3 Review the former tenant arrears and rechargeable repairs collection 
processes by March 2017. 
 

5.1 Update the risk register to reflect changed risks. 
 

5.2 Maintain the contribution to the provision for bad debts at 1% of 
annual debit. 
 

5.3 Await future guidance and then undertake further work on the 
potential for impairment to detrimentally affect the projections within 
the plan. 
 

5.4 Review the disaggregation of service charges from rents to identify 
the elements of a potential charge, assess the additional income and 
consider the issues around implementation. 
 

5.5 Review funding and service levels in the Supported Housing Service.  
6.1 Implement in full the Lincoln Standard. 

 
6.2 Implement in full Environment and Estate improvement works.  

  
7.1 The Council commits to the creation of a wholly owned company to 

be primarily funded by on-lending from the General Fund.  
 
 

 

60



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 22 FEBRUARY 2016 
 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

 

ESTABLISHMENT OF A WHOLLY OWNED HOUSING 

COMPANY 

 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

DIRECTOR OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

BOB LEDGER, DIRECTOR OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY 
SERVICES 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 This report sets out the proposed governance framework and an indicative 

business case to create a Housing Company which will be wholly owned by the 
Council. The company’s role will be to deliver market rent properties as well as a 
lesser proportion of low cost home ownership properties. The development of 
market property will, overall, generate income into the General Fund in several 
ways but will involve the General Fund taking on significant debt and on-lending 
to the company. The company proposal is designed to complement other 
initiatives i.e. to build more social housing in the Housing Revenue Account and 
encourage Housing Associations to develop at ‘affordable’ rent levels in the City. 
The overall aim of the three strands of policy is to increase the amount of quality 
accommodation in the City with the balance being at sub-market rents.  
 

1.2  
 
1.2.1 
 
 
1.2.2 
 
 
1.2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2.4 
 
 
 
1.2.5 
 
 

Members of the Executive will be asked to approve: 
 
That a company be formed. This can be done at low cost and is essentially a 
registration process at Companies House.  
  
The governance and constitutional arrangements for the company detailed in the 
report.  
 
That in principle it is agreed to make funding available from the General Fund to 
finance the company. This will involve significant loans being taken out in the 
General Fund with on-lending to the company at a premium (i.e. the General 
Fund will make a return on the loans, however there will be some cost to the 
General Fund in the initial years).  The loan finance will allow the Company to 
function and grow.   
 
That based on the indicative company balance sheet at appendix 1, and more 
detailed workings supporting that, a detailed business plan for the company be 
progressed. 
 
That a detailed wholly owned company business plan and governance 
arrangements be developed and implemented subject to final approval by the 
Executive Committee in the summer of 2016.   
 
 
 

61

Item No. 4



2. Executive Summary     
 

2.1 The company will be like any other private company in that it will need to be 
financially viable, operate in line with an agreed business plan and meet all its 
statutory obligations. 
 

2.2 The Housing Company is designed to form part of a strategy to promote the 
increase of housing supply in the City and would sit alongside other strategies 
that the Council is promoting and which include 

 Development of housing, to be let at social rent levels, within the Council's 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA); 

 Working with Registered Providers (Housing Associations - RPs) to 
encourage them to develop affordable housing within the City; 

 Working with specialist institutional investors to explore property leaseback 
options 
 

2.3 Initially, it is proposed the Housing Company will develop property which it will 
provide primarily as market rented accommodation but with some low cost home 
ownership. This will enable the company, and in turn the Council, help a section 
of the community respond to the many challenges they face in the current 
housing market in the City. 
 

2.4 The Housing Company will be fully financed by the Council through a combination 
of loan and equity funding. However, the overriding principle of the financial 
modelling is that there will be no overall cost, over the life of the business plan, to 
the Council of setting up and financing the Housing Company. In addition, the 
Council may benefit from any future dividends (profits after tax) from the 
company, any capital growth in the value of the property portfolio, a premium for 
on-lending through the General Fund and a % of both Council tax and New 
Homes Bonus income generated by the new stock. 
 

2.5  An indicative business plan has been prepared on the basis of developing a 
portfolio of 160 new properties to provide as rented accommodation and 40 as 
low cost sale (the balance sheet is attached at appendix 1). In order for the model 
to remain viable with no cost to the Council, all rented property would be let at 
full/close to market rent and the sale properties sold at marginally below market 
terms. Based on the detailed financial modelling carried out for the Council it is 
anticipated that rents (depending on the unit type) will be between £500 and £600 
per month. These are highlighted in the table that has been included in the 
section Financial Modelling.  
 

2.6 Members should note that the housing ‘offer’ from the company will be separate 
and different to that of the Council. In particular, the tenancy arrangement will be 
different to that of the secure tenancies provided by the Council. The company 
will essentially offer responsibly managed private rented accommodation and for 
sale on lower cost terms. 
 

2.7 As a company wholly owned by the Council it is imperative that an appropriate 
governance structure is put in place to ensure the sound and robust management 
of the company alongside protection of the Council’s financial and reputational 
investment in the company. However, the governance must not hinder the 
company and must allow it to act swiftly and pro-actively as a separate legal 

62



entity. This report sets out a proposed governance structure to achieve this. As 
sole shareholder, the Council would appoint the directors to the company and 
approve the business plan and other key decisions (known as reserved matters - 
these are listed at appendix 2). The directors would have responsibility for the 
operation and management of the company. The directors would be accountable 
to the Council (and Members) for the company's performance through the 
Council's role as the sole shareholder of the Company. 
 

2.8 The Council has taken both legal and financial advice from specialist consultants 
to ensure that it has the powers and capability to create and fund the company in 
line with relevant legislation.   
 

2.9 Although the indicative business case has been modelled on developing 200 
properties during the first few years, subject to a range of factors, the Housing 
Company will have the potential to significantly increase its portfolio. Over time, 
this will enable the company to either provide more properties to let at a 
discounted market rent or indeed to return a greater profit to the Council’s 
General Fund.  
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

One of the Council’s four key long standing objectives is to increase the supply of 
affordable housing in the City. 
 

3.2 
 

There are nearly 2,800 separate applications for housing on the Council’s waiting 
list. Around 600 applicants are fortunate enough to get a property from that 
waiting list each year. Most of the rest continue to live in unsatisfactory 
accommodation.  
  

3.3 
 

25% of the total housing stock in the City is now in the private rented sector 
(PRS). Although there are some very good landlords, overall standards are low. 
Our own in-house private sector housing team estimate over 43% of the PRS 
stock is non decent (lacking one or more basic modern amenities) and up to 20% 
have a category one hazard under the national Health and Housing Rating 
System (HHRS) meaning that it is dangerous or potentially injurious to health to 
live there.     
 

3.4  In the period following the Comprehensive Spending Review of 2010 Housing 
Association development activity in the City dropped to its lowest level in a 
decade. In the three years to April 2015 only 69 new affordable homes were built 
within the City’s boundaries, compared to 259 in the preceding two years. In that 
same three year period 91 Council homes were lost to the social and affordable 
stock through the Right to Buy.  
 

3.5 Emerging data in the formation of the new Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 
indicates that there is a chronic shortage of housing across all tenures in the City. 
The position is mirrored to varying degrees in most parts of the Country.  
 

3.6  The issue for the Council is whether it wishes to try and intervene in this process 
and seek, at least partially, to fill the gap of supply and of standards through 
market priced development within a wholly owned company. There are other 
benefits to the Council and community relating to such an approach but also, 

63



inevitably, increased risk for the Council.  
 

3.7 Elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting members are asked to approve an 
amended and updated Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan. This 
allows for the fulfilment of the previous commitment to 150 new build social rent 
homes to be extended by a further 100 homes. The housing company model is 
intended to be complementary to development in the HRA in order to positively 
intervene in the failing market.     
 

4. A wholly owned Housing Company  
 

4.1 The proposal and company objectives  

4.1.1 This proposal sets out the business case for creating a Housing Company, wholly 
owned by the Council, which will develop properties to provide as privately rented 
accommodation and housing for sale on sub market terms.  
 

4.1.2 Key objectives of the Housing Company will be: - 
 

 To act as an "exemplar" private sector landlord in the City offering high quality 
accommodation. 

 To remain financially viable and operate efficiently to ensure it receives 
sufficient rental income to meet all of its costs including financing, housing 
management, property maintenance and administration. 

 To provide an efficient housing management service to its tenants which will 
need to be clearly differentiated from that provided for the Council’s own 
stock. 

 To maintain property to a suitable standard to meet tenants’ reasonable 
expectations and to protect and enhance the Council’s financial investment in 
the properties 
 

4.1.3 To achieve the financial viability of the Housing Company most of the properties 
will need to be let at full market rent to ensure the company is viable and can 
cover its costs/liabilities and without a cost to the General Fund. The current 
financial modelling is based on an 80:20 split (market rent/sub market sale) 
although this may change over time as market conditions and other parameters 
vary. 
 

4.1.4 In establishing the business case officers have taken specialist advice from both 
Trowers & Hamlins LLP and the David Tolson Partnership in respect of the legal 
and financial aspects of the business case respectively. Both organisations have 
detailed knowledge and experience of advising a number of Councils about the 
formation and management of commercial housing companies. Officers have also 
researched and spoken to other councils who have already established or are 
setting up similar companies. 
 

4.2 Company structure and Governance Arrangements  

4.2.1 Trowers & Hamlins have advised that a company limited by shares (CLS) is the 
appropriate form of vehicle for the Housing Company for a number of reasons, 
including:  

 a CLS is the most common corporate vehicle used in England for profit 

64



distributing bodies and is a very tried and tested model; 

 the Council may look (in the longer term) to receive a return out of the 
profits of the Housing Company and the CLS model is a typical form of 
commercial vehicle established with a view to making a profit; 

 the ability for the Council to invest in the company by way of share equity 
as well as loan debt; 

 The general power of competence, being used for a commercial purpose 
as is intended here, does not allow for local authorities to participate 
directly in a limited liability partnership, which would be the other most 
obvious corporate form for a body established with a view to profit. 
 

4.2.2 The company will be set up in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, 
including the appointment to the Board of the company. The Memorandum and 
Articles of Association and any other relevant document for the setting up of such 
a company will be in a form approved by the City Solicitor. 
 

4.2.3 The Council will hold 100% of the shares in the Housing Company and as such 
will have full ownership. This has the advantage of allowing the Council to retain 
ultimate control of the Company and therefore the allocations, selection of 
properties and the rents. 
 

4.2.4 The Council and Housing Company will need to ensure that appropriate 
governance arrangements are put in place so that the Council, as the sole 
shareholder of the company, can set and oversee the strategic direction of the 
company whilst allowing the directors of the company discretion to carry out the 
operational management effectively, efficiently and with clear targets and 
milestones. This will require a clear decision making framework to ensure the 
Council as Shareholder make the appropriate decisions reserved for them (see 
appendix 2) and give sufficient authority to the Directors to make decisions in 
relation to the day to day activities of the company. 
 

4.2.5 Governance arrangements must ensure accountability whilst not hindering 
operational activity.  
 

4.2.6 It is recommended that the following governance structure is implemented.  
 

 Firstly, to provide the strategic direction and oversight of the Housing 
Company a shareholder, cross-party committee of members will be 
established which will exercise the Council's rights as shareholder of the 
Housing Company  

 The new Committee would need to be established by full Council with 
relevant terms of reference. The Committee would need at least 5 and 
more usually 9 or more members.   

 The second level of governance will cover the day to day operational 
matters of the company and this will be the responsibility of the Housing 
Company’s Directors. It is suggested that 3 senior officers of the Council 
are appointed as company Directors with one being the Managing Director 
of the Company. In addition, two independent Non- Executive Directors will 
be recruited to bring commercial housing and finance experience to the 
board of directors.  (Directors of the company will be subject to the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006 regarding duties and obligations of 
Directors. Any actions against the company will stay with the company and 

65



there would be no recourse to the council or individual directors, save in 
certain defined cases for example, fraudulent or wrongful trading.  In 
addition the Directors will be indemnified by the Company for personal 
liability except in the cases of unlawful actions or fraudulent or wrongful 
trading).   

 
4.2.7 The establishment of a Shareholders Agreement (between the shareholders and 

the Housing Company) will set out the parameters the company must operate 
within and ultimately it provides the Council with complete control over the 
company. 
 

4.2.8 This structure avoids any potential conflict of interest for Members between their 
role as an elected Member of the Council and the day to day operational 
management of the Housing Company. However, Members still control the 
company at a strategic level with officers tasked with managing the Housing 
Company within a framework and through delegated authority provided by 
Members. 
 

4.2.9 Any council officer appointed as a company director should not be remunerated 
(although it may be appropriate for Non-Executive Directors to receive modest 
remuneration) and it is recommended that the Council’s Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer are not appointed as Directors to ensure a clear separation of 
their roles in their advice to the Council. Officers will need to be mindful to avoid 
circumstances where a conflict might arise in their role of company Director and 
the giving of advice to members in their role as Council decision makers. 
 

4.2.10 In addition to the directors of the business, the Housing Company will also need 
to be appropriately staffed. It is anticipated that many of the services will be 
contracted out with housing management, maintenance and accounting services 
provided by Council staff (and re-charged to the company). It is important to 
absolutely demonstrate that all costs of utilising Council staff are recovered and 
that there is no actual or hidden subsidy so as to avoid any challenge that the 
Council is providing state aid to the company. 
 

4.3 Documentation required to establish the Housing Company 

4.3.1 The following documentation will be required to complete the establishment of the 
Housing Company and associated governance arrangements:  
 

  Memorandum of Association and Articles – this will be the governing 
document for the Housing Company. 

 
  Shareholder Agreement – will be required to regulate, amongst other 

matters, how the Housing Company is to be governed. This will be a 
key document as it will capture how the Council/Shareholders will 
exercise its control over the Housing Company. 

 

  Terms of Reference for shareholder committee 
 

  Loan Agreements – these set out the details of the funding 
arrangements between the Council and the Housing Company. 

 

4.3.2 In addition, the Housing Company will be governed via a series of operational 

66



documents, which will be controlled by the Council via the Shareholder 
Agreement. 
 

4.3.3  Business Plan – the business plan will need to be developed to cover a 
rolling 5-year period of investment activity and will outline the company’s 
planned operations. The Business Plan will be reviewed and agreed 
annually and covers the following: - 

 
a) Company objectives (as established in the Shareholder Agreement) 
b) Governance arrangements 
c) Operational plans 
d) Financial model and assumptions 
e) Rents, sales and development assumptions 
f) Fees, on costs and tax 
g) Funding profile and sensitivity analysis 

 

4.3.4 Operational Policies including: - 
 

a) Rent setting  
b) Letting policy 
c) Rent arrears and debt recovery 
d) Other general policies e.g. Health and Safety, data protection  

 

4.4 Site acquisitions/disposals 
 

4.4.1 Careful consideration will need to be given to the transfer of any land held by the 
Council to the Housing Company, and in particular the requirements of s123 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 (in relation to land held in the Council's General 
Fund) and s32/43 of the Housing Act 1985 (in relation to land held in the 
Council's HRA) will need to be met.  It is recommended that site specific advice is 
taken by the Council in relation to each site. 
 

4.5 Property Management  
 

4.5.1 The Housing Company will need to provide housing management and property 
maintenance services to its portfolio. It would not be cost effective for the Housing 
Company to employ its own staff, save for the possible employment of a 
development officer. It is anticipated that the Housing Company would utilise the 
services of the Council's housing management and maintenance teams, with all 
costs being re-charged on an arms-length and transparent basis. 
 

4.5.2 Taking into account a range of factors including quality of service, costs, ability to 
deliver and knowledge of tenant requirements it is proposed the company will 
contract with the Council to provide these services. As mentioned in the Legal 
section of this report, the Housing Company is subject to the Public Contract 
Regulations in relation to procurement. However, as a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Council, the Housing Company will be able to apply the ‘Teckal’ exemption in 
terms of any contracts between the Council and the Housing Company, therefore 
these contracts would not be subject to the EU procurement regime.  
 

4.5.3 Tenants of the Housing Company would be granted an Assured Shorthold 
Tenancy.  

67



 
4.6 Financing the Housing Company 

 
4.6.1 The business case is predicated on the Housing Company being fully financed by 

the Council’s General Fund. This is because the Council is able to access funding 
at very competitive rates from various sources including the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB). The Council can then on-lend funding to the Housing Company. 
 

4.6.2 Full indicative financial modelling for the Housing Company has been carried out 
by consultant advisers, David Tolson Partnership, with officers providing and 
agreeing assumptions. The modelling is predicated on there being no overall cost 
to the Council over the life of the business plan. The indicative model is attached 
at appendix 1.  
 

4.6.3 The funding provided from the Council to the Housing Company will be in two 
parts. Firstly, the larger part of the funding will be as a loan on which the Housing 
Company will pay interest to the Council. The second part of the funding will be in 
the form of equity (in return for shares in the Housing Company).  
 

4.6.4 If the Council were to invest 100% of money as a loan to the Housing Company, 
then HMRC may challenge this as a non-commercial arrangement and as way to 
make excessive interest payments and avoiding an appropriate tax liability. 
 

4.7 Financial modelling for the Company 
 

4.7.1 Assumptions  
The following assumptions have been made in relation to the financial modelling 
that was undertaken by David Tolson Partnership Ltd. 
 

4.7.2 Stock and rents 
The modelling assumes that the new company will build 200 units over the first 5 
years.  The developments would take place as follows: 

 Year 1 - 40 Units taking 18 months to build finishing middle of Year 2 

 Year 2 - 40 Units taking 18 months to build finishing middle of Year 3 

 Year 3 - 40 Units taking 18 months to build finishing middle of Year 4 

 Year 4 - 40 Units taking 18 months to build finishing middle of Year 5 

 Year 5 - 40 Units taking 18 months to build finishing middle of Year 6 

4.7.3 The development mix is split 20% and 80%.  The split is between 20% properties 
for sale with a 6 month sale period lag and 80% at market rents.  In total there are 
40 sales properties over the periods and 160 market rented properties. Rental 
income is based on the market averages for Lincoln for a two bed property (£595) 
and sales prices are also based on this (£135,000). The following tables show the 
market data that was used to inform these assumptions: 
 
 
 
 

68



 Market Values 
   

 Unit type 
No. of 
properties Average price 

Average TOM 
(Time on 
market) 

One Bedroom 366 £89,784 244 

Two Bedroom 2540 £124,693 203 

Three Bedroom 4884 £168,374 225 

Four Bedroom 2839 £265,586 244 
 

  

 

Market Rents 
   

Unit type 
No. of 
properties 

Average Rent 
p.m. 

Median Rent 
p.m. 

One Bedroom 83 454 395 

Two Bedroom 105 592 550 

Three Bedroom 97 598 600 

Four Bedroom 118 542 394 
 

4.7.4 Build Costs 
An all-in build cost (including land and VAT) of £105k per property has been 
assumed.  It is hoped that with higher volume programmed development these 
costs can be secured.  It should be noted however that these figures are below 
those currently used for HRA developments and represents the most significant 
of risks to the financial model.  It is worth noting that an increase in build costs 
above £110k per property could potentially make the business plan unviable, 
unless adjustments are made elsewhere 
 

4.7.5 Other Assumptions 
A range of other assumptions have been agreed and used to inform the financial 
modelling as shown in the following table:   

 
Management costs   £750 
      
Rent Loss Percentage   2.0% 
      
Revenue Repairs Per Unit After 1 Year 
Free   £550 
      
Major Repairs % Build Cost from Year 
11 On   0.8% 
      

Interest Rate PWLB plus Margin (1%)     
      
Year 1 (PWLB 2%)   3.00% 
Year 2 (PWLB 2%)   3.00% 
Year 3 (PWLB 2%)   3.00% 
Year 4 (PWLB 2%)   3.00% 
Year 5 (PWLB 2%)   3.00% 

Year 6 - On (PWLB 4.1%)   5.00% 

 

69



The detailed business plan for the company will develop these assumptions 
further and will include a full sensitivity analysis of these key assumptions and 
their impact on the viability of the business plan. 
 

4.7.6 Taxation 
The tax and VAT implications in relation to the outline proposals have been 
assessed by qualified tax specialists.  Tax has been included in the financial 
model at what tax advisers have suggested is a fair approximation of the levels of 
tax likely to be incurred.   
 

4.7.7 Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT)  
As the council is a local authority, group relief should be available on the 
purchase of land.  This means that no SDLT should be chargeable whether land 
was sold or gifted.  Some due diligence should be undertaken to ensure that the 
conditions for SDLT group relief apply. 
 

4.7.8 Corporation tax 
Corporation taxation is based on corporation tax at 20% in the first two years then 
sliding over the future years to an ongoing rate of 18% (in line with Govt Tax 
Policy) being payable on revenue surpluses and on the sale of houses.   
 

4.7.9 VAT 
The new housing company will not be able to recover all the VAT that it incurs on 
purchases of goods and services.  The new company will be able to register for 
VAT and it is acknowledged that this should be done as soon as possible to 
reduce any risk of VAT loss on the costs on setting up the new company.  For 
sales of shared ownership property the initial sale is zero rated, whereas 
subsequent rents and additional purchases of equity will be exempt from VAT.  
Advice has been received suggesting that it would be advisable to have a design 
and build contract in place for the construction of the new properties.  This is to 
reduce the irrecoverable VAT on professional fees (construction of new houses is 
zero rated). 
 

4.7.10 Overall results of financial modelling 
The business plan assumes total borrowing of £20m.  This borrowing is assumed 
to be split between 25% equity and 75% loan.  It is assumed that interest 
payments are made on the loan and it is assumed that loans will be drawn over 
the first 5 years on short term basis then re-financed in year 6 with a 35 years 
repayment schedule. 
The modelling shows that the cashflow can be sustained on this basis, however it 
should be noted that if build costs rise above the current assumptions this will 
have a negative impact on the plan and unless adjustments are made elsewhere 
in the financial plan there will be insufficient funds for the plan to be viable.  
 

4.8 Financial Impact on the General Fund 
 

4.8.1 The General Fund will receive three different types of return from the Housing 
Company: 
 

1. Interest on loans 
The Council will finance the Housing Company by taking out loans, via the 
PWLB and on lending to the Company. Loans made by the Council to the 

70



Company will require an interest rate which will be at a margin above the rate 
the Council has borrowed from the PWLB.  An appropriate rate will be 
determined by the Chief Finance Officer taking into account the need to 
ensure that it is a commercial rate (thus ensuring State Aid provisions are not 
triggered) but equally that it is not an excessive rate. The financial modelling 
currently assumes a margin on this lending of between 0.9%-1%, this 
represents a revenue stream for the Council. 

 
2. Repayment of loan principal 
The financial modelling for the Company assumes the loan debt taken out of 
£15m will start to be repaid from year 6 and will be repaid over a period of 35 
years.  

 
3. Dividends  
The Housing Company’s profits, net of tax, will be available for distribution to 
the Shareholders (the Council) and this will represent revenue income to the 
Council.  The financial modelling for the Housing Company assumes that a 
dividend will be payable from year 6 onwards and has initially been assumed 
to repay at a level equivalent to 1/35 of the equity loan made to the Company.  
Subject to the performance of the Company there will be opportunity to review 
this dividend and receive a greater share of the profits if so desired. 

 
4.8.2 The financial modelling for the Housing Company demonstrates, on the current 

assumptions, that the initial loan debt can be repaid and that the Company is able 
to make interest payments on the total loan values and provide the Council with 
an annual dividend, whilst generating a surplus position for the company. 
 

4.8.3 The acquisition of equity by a Council and the provision of loans to a third party 
are both defined as capital expenditures by legislation.  To the extent that such 
expenditure is funded by borrowing there is a requirement to make a prudent 
provision for the repayment of such debt.  In these circumstances the Council is 
expecting the repayment of the loan debt element in full and therefore there is no 
requirement to make a provision for repayment of the loan that the Council funds 
the loan debt part of the Company’s financing.  In relation to the equity element 
there is a requirement to make prudent provision for the repayment of the debt, 
limited to a maximum period of 20 years.  The impact on the General Fund will 
therefore be a charge of the £5m equity finance over a 20 year period. 
  

4.8.4 Taking into account the returns that the Council is forecast to make from the 
Housing Company and the costs it will incur in respect of the provision of 
repayment of debt, the current financial modelling indicates that, based on the 
initial business plan model for the Company, the Council is set to make a return 
on its investment in the Housing Company.  However there may be years in the 
period of the plan, primarily the first 5 years, where the impact on the General 
Fund is negative.  Initial work by officers have estimated this to be in the region of 
a £250k (one-off cost over the 5-year period).  Further detailed work on this will 
be undertaken whilst the detailed business plan is being prepared.  
 

4.8.5 Although the indicative business plan demonstrates that the Housing Company is 
viable there still remains a risk that the principal sums invested in the Housing 
Company by the General Fund are not returned in full.  This would require a 
combination of a series of factors affecting many of the assumptions used in the 

71



business plan but is nevertheless a risk.  This risk is particularly high during the 
first 5 years of the Company and at a time when its asset base is below or close 
to its debt liabilities.  In light of the fact that the Council will not be setting aside an 
MRP (Minimum Revenue Provision) charge on the loan debt element of the 
Housing Company’s financing and given the potential risk it faces, it would be 
prudent for the Council to consider setting aside an additional earmarked reserve 
to provide some cover for any such losses. Further consideration will be given to 
the need and potential level of such a reserve as work progresses on the detailed 
business plan.  
 

4.8.6 
 

In addition to the returns to the General Fund as set out above the Council will 
benefit from additional income through Council Tax, which is 16% of the Council 
Tax bill per property, and from New Homes bonus, as well as the potential to 
generate income from the provision of services, e.g. housing management, 
financial services, property maintenance, subject to capacity existing within these 
services.  
 

5.  Legal Issues for the Council  
 

5.1 Powers to form the Housing Company 
 

5.1.1 The Council can rely upon the general power of competence within the Localism 
Act 2011 to form the Housing Company for operating a business to let homes at 
market rent or to provide homes for sale either on market or sub market terms.  

 
5.1.2 Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides local authorities with the power to do 

anything an individual may do, subject to a number of limitations.  This is referred 
to as the general power of competence.  A local authority may exercise the 
"general power of competence" for its own purpose, for a commercial purpose 
and/or for the benefit of others. In exercising this power, a local authority is still 
subject to its general duties (such as the fiduciary duties it owes to its rate and 
local tax payers) and to the public law requirements to exercise its powers for a 
proper purpose. 

 
5.1.3 In the exercise of its powers under the Localism Act for a commercial purpose, 

the Council is obliged under the Localism Act to do so via a company. 
 
5.2 Powers to fund the Housing Company 

 
5.2.1 The Housing Company will need significant funding to acquire land and develop 

properties. Therefore, as well as the Council having the powers to form the 
Housing Company it must also be able to provide it with the necessary loan and 
equity funding.  
 

5.2.2 The Council has the power to borrow under the Local Government Act 2003 for 
the purposes of the prudent management of their financial affairs, or in 
connection with any of their functions. The borrowing must be affordable, prudent 
and sustainable and comply with the Prudential Code.  
 

5.2.3 As outlined, the Council intends to borrow monies and in turn support the Housing 
Company through the provision of loans and subscription to share capital.   
Section 24 of the Local Government Act 1988 (the 1988 Act) specifically allows 

72



the Council to provide financial assistance in connection with the provision of 
privately let accommodation.     
 

5.2.4 If the Council exercises its powers under this section, then under Section 25 of 
the 1988 Act it must also obtain the consent of the Secretary of State to do so.  If 
this consent is not obtained, then any financial assistance given will be void.  The 
Secretary of State has set out pre-approved consents in the "General Consents 
2010" (July 2011) and the "General Consents 2014" (April 2014).  The General 
Consents 2010 contains Consent C. and the Council can provide financial 
assistance to the Housing Company under this provision. 
 

5.2.5 Any housing made available for sale by the Housing Company would not be 
covered by the 1988 Act, however the Council can rely upon the general power of 
competence under the Localism Act 2011 to fund the Housing Company for the 
purpose of the company operating a business to provide homes for market sale.  
 

5.3 Power to transfer land to the Housing Company 
 

5.3.1 It may in the future be appropriate for the company to develop new homes using 
Council owned land. The Council is entitled to dispose of land held by it in its 
General Fund provided it complies with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and it is entitled to dispose of land held in its Housing Revenue Account 
providing it complies with section 32/43 of the Housing Act 1985.  Although these 
consents for HRA land normally require the consent of the Secretary of State, 
there are some useful general consents that have been issued. However, these 
powers concerning the disposal of land from the Council to the Housing Company 
are complex and as such, site specific advice will be sought in the future for any 
disposals or series of disposals. 

 
5.4 Fiduciary duties 

 
5.4.1 The Council's fiduciary duties can be briefly summarised as acting as a trustee of 

tax and public sector income on behalf of its rates and tax payers.  The Council in 
effect holds money but does not own it and spends that money on behalf of its 
business rate and council tax payers. Taking these fiduciary duties into 
consideration, the Council’s primary objectives when making investments/loans 
are the repayment of the principal and interest on time, then ensuring adequate 
liquidity, with investment return being the final objective.  The Council therefore 
will in the first need to ensure that that it has minimised the risks and potential 
costs to it if the Housing Company becomes insolvent and/or defaults on any 
loans and then ensure that it achieves an appropriate return for the lending it 
provides. 
 

5.5 Procurement 
 

5.5.1 The Housing Company will be a body required to follow the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (PCR).  However, as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, 
the Housing Company will be able to take advantage of the "in house" exemption 
from the PCR and as such, any contracts let between the Council and the 
Housing Company (e.g. in relation to housing management services) would not 
be subject to the EU procurement regime. 
 

73



5.6 State Aid Compliance 
  

5.6.1 If the Council is acting in a way that a private lender and/or investor would not act 
in similar circumstances in a market economy, for example by providing a loan on 
uncommercial terms and at a uncommercial interest rate, and/or was making an 
equity investment on the terms and for the return which a private investor would 
not do, then such activity could constitute unlawful State Aid within the meaning 
of Article 107 of the Treaty on Function of European Union (TFEU.) 

 
5.6.2 As such, when the Council establishes the detailed loan arrangements with the 

Housing Company it will need to ensure that an analysis of the relevant risk in 
relation to the loan is undertaken and also confirm that the interest rate applied is 
consistent with that which a private lender would require in the same 
circumstances and that the non-financial element of the loan complies with the 
terms and conditions which a private lender is likely to require, so not to constitute 
unlawful state aid. 
 

5.6.3 State Aid will need to be continually kept under review to ensure that the support 
from the Council is able to continue to be provided throughout the loan period. 
 

5.6.4 It is also important that any services provided by the Council to the Housing 
Company are provided at "arm’s length" commercial terms, as uncommercial 
terms could also constitute unlawful State Aid,  
 

6. Strategic Priorities  
 

6.1 Growing the local economy  
 

6.1.1 The construction sector claims that for every £1 invested the sector delivers £2.85 
in actual spending. Investing in infrastructure projects is the one of the best ways 
to stimulate the economy. By following Council procurement rules we will keep 
spend local as much as possible. 
    

6.2 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln 
 

6.2.1  Although the rented property in the company will be at market rents the properties 
will still provide a more attractive alternative to many than the rest of the private 
rented sector and first call for allocation would be offered to those on the 
Council’s waiting list.  
 

6.2.2 The company model is proposed to work alongside the HRA in providing homes 
for social rent and housing associations providing homes at affordable rents.  
 

6.2.3 In the medium and long term the company model should generate income for the 
General Fund helping it to maintain other critical services. 
 

6.3 Increasing the supply of affordable housing 
 

6.3.1 It is anticipated that all properties delivered through the company will help in 
reducing the Council’s waiting list for accommodation and assist in driving up 
standards across the wider private rented sector.  
 

74



7. Organisational Impacts  
 

7.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) 
The financial implications are as set out in section 4.6 – 4.8 above. 
 

7.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules  
Included throughout the report. 
 

7.3 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights (including the outcome of the EA attached, if 
required)  
No report required at this time.  
 

7.4 Significant Community Impact  
This report relates specifically includes to improving the range of Housing options 
in the community. 
 

8. Risk Implications 
 

8.1 (i)        Options Explored  
Other options explored in the formation of the company related to whether and 
how it could deliver new build property at sub-market rent.  
 

8.2 (ii)        Key risks associated with the preferred approach 
Significant on-loan funding by the General Fund is required to make the company 
model work although the projection overall is, at least, that there is no overall cost 
to the Council in the term of the model.    
 

9. Recommendation  
 

9.1 
 
 

To consider the report and proposal that a company be formed and the draft 
recommendations at 1.2 to be considered by the Executive.   
 

 

Key Decision 
 

Yes 

Do the Exempt Information Categories 
Apply 
 

No 

Call in and Urgency: Is the decision one 
to which Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

No 

Does the report contain Appendices? 
 

2 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None. 

Lead Officer: Bob Ledger x3200 
 

75



This page is intentionally blank.



BALANCE SHEET
Lincoln City Council

Period: 01 January 2014 - 31 December 2044 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 10 Year 15 Year 20 Year 25 Year 30 Year 35 Year 40

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

HOUSING ASSETS

Housing Properties at cost 2,485,000 5,962,600 9,424,072 13,175,408 17,048,111 18,112,892 18,563,920 19,664,811 20,941,046 22,420,551 24,135,704 26,124,021

Social Housing Grants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital Grants

Depreciation (1%) -24,850 -59,626 -94,241 -131,754 -170,481 -181,129 -185,639 -196,648 -209,410 -224,206 -241,357 -261,240

Net Book Value Of Housing Properties 2,460,150 5,902,974 9,329,831 13,043,654 16,877,630 17,931,763 18,378,281 19,468,163 20,731,636 22,196,345 23,894,347 25,862,781

Other Fixed Assets Tangible 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Fixed Assets Intangible

Other Fixed Assets Investments

Homebuy Loan

Homebuy Grant

Total Fixed Assets 2,460,150 5,902,974 9,329,831 13,043,654 16,877,630 17,931,763 18,378,281 19,468,163 20,731,636 22,196,345 23,894,347 25,862,781

Current Assets

Rent Arrears 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Less provision for bad debts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sundry Debtors 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Prepayments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Amounts owing from leaseholders

Cash in Bank and in Hand 1,574,025 2,317,830 3,120,073 3,713,146 4,272,891 1,872,299 1,422,619 1,824,661 3,636,026 6,985,326 12,024,226 18,928,561

Total Current Assets 1,574,025 2,317,830 3,120,073 3,713,146 4,272,891 1,872,299 1,422,619 1,824,661 3,636,026 6,985,326 12,024,226 18,928,561

Current Liabilities

Rents in advance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tax and Social Security 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Corporation Tax -6,835 -38,693 -50,881 -67,977 -87,723 -55,151 -98,728 -158,488 -226,237 -300,681 -382,887 -474,091

Contract Retentions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Accruals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Current Liabilities -6,835 -38,693 -50,881 -67,977 -87,723 -55,151 -98,728 -158,488 -226,237 -300,681 -382,887 -474,091

Net Current Assets Excl Pension 1,567,190 2,279,138 3,069,193 3,645,168 4,185,168 1,817,148 1,323,891 1,666,173 3,409,788 6,684,644 11,641,338 18,454,470

Pension Asset Total

Net Current Assets Incl Pension 1,567,190 2,279,138 3,069,193 3,645,168 4,185,168 1,817,148 1,323,891 1,666,173 3,409,788 6,684,644 11,641,338 18,454,470

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 4,027,340 8,182,112 12,399,024 16,688,822 21,062,798 19,748,911 19,702,172 21,134,336 24,141,424 28,880,990 35,535,685 44,317,251

DEFERRED LIABILITIES

Outstanding Loan Balance 3,000,000 6,000,000 9,000,000 12,000,000 15,000,000 12,857,143 10,714,286 8,571,429 6,428,571 4,285,714 2,142,857 0

Loan Fees

Deferred Premium

Other Long Term Creditors

NET ASSETS 1,027,340 2,182,112 3,399,024 4,688,822 6,062,798 6,891,768 8,987,886 12,562,907 17,712,853 24,595,275 33,392,828 44,317,251

Share Capital and Reserves

Provisions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

General Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Designated Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pension Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Goodwill Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Stockholders Equity 1,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 4,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000

Retained Surplus 27,340 182,112 399,024 688,822 1,062,798 1,891,768 3,987,886 7,562,907 12,712,853 19,595,275 28,392,828 39,317,251

1,027,340 2,182,112 3,399,024 4,688,822 6,062,798 6,891,768 8,987,886 12,562,907 17,712,853 24,595,275 33,392,828 44,317,251

Check: Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance Balance

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

77



T
his page is intentionally blank.



   

Appendix 2 

City of Lincoln Council 

Housing Company – Draft Decision Making Matrix 

Issue Officers of HousingCo1 Board of HousingCo Council (acting as 

shareholder of 

HousingCo) (decisions 

taken via shareholder 

committee) 

1 Customer issues    

1.1 make any 

amendments to the 

Lettings Policy and 

Sales Policy; 

   

1.2 implement the Rent 

Policy; 

   

1.3 implement the Debt 

Recovery Policy; 

   

2 Business issues    

2.1 Approve any business 

other than as 

contemplated by the 

Business Plan;  

   

                                                   
1
 Will be Council employees seconded to HousingCo at least in short term 

79



   

Issue Officers of HousingCo1 Board of HousingCo Council (acting as 

shareholder of 

HousingCo) (decisions 

taken via shareholder 

committee) 

2.2 Engage in business 

contemplated by the 

Business Plan 

(including acquisition 

of property that fits 

with the Financial 

Model);  

?   

2.3 Approve any contract 

with a value in excess 

of £[tba];  

   

2.4 Approve any 

arrangement, contract 

or transaction outside 

the normal course of 

its business or 

otherwise than on 

arm's length terms. 

   

2.5 Close down any 

business operation, or 

dispose of any 

material asset unless 

in each case such 

closure or disposal is 

expressly 

contemplated by the 

   

80



   

Issue Officers of HousingCo1 Board of HousingCo Council (acting as 

shareholder of 

HousingCo) (decisions 

taken via shareholder 

committee) 

Business Plan; 

2.6 Acquire any land with 

a value in excess of 

£[X]; 

   

2.7 Approve acquisition of 

any land or property 

outside of the 

Council's 

administrative area 

    

2.8 Make any  

amendments to the 

Financial Model; 

   

2.9 Adopt or amend 

HousingCo's 

Remuneration Policy; 

   

2.10 Adopt or amend 

HousingCo's annual 

Business Plan. 

   

 

 

81



T
his page is intentionally blank.


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes -18 January 2016
	3 HRA Business Plan and a Strategy for New Build
	HRA Business Plan and a Strategy for New Build - Appendix

	4 Establishment of a Wholly Owned Housing Company
	Establishment of a Wholly Owned Housing Company - Appendix 1
	Establishment of a Wholly Owned Housing Company - Appendix 2


